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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The  following  management's  discussion  and  analysis  provides  information  that  management  believes  is  relevant  to  an  assessment  and  understanding  of  the
consolidated financial condition and results of operations of Golden Star Resources Ltd. and its subsidiaries ( “ Golden Star ” or “ the Company ” or “ we ” or “ our
” ).  This  Management’s  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  Results  of  Operations  ( “ MD&A ” )  should  be  read  in  conjunction  with  the
Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2018, which are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ( “ IFRS ” ) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ( “ IASB ” ). This MD&A includes information available to,
and is dated, February 19, 2019. Unless noted otherwise, all currency amounts are stated in U.S. dollars and all financial information presented in this MD&A is
prepared in accordance with IFRS.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This  MD&A  contains  “forward-looking  information”  within  the  meaning  of  applicable  Canadian  securities  laws  and  “forward-looking  statements”  within  the
meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, concerning the business,  operations and financial  performance and condition of
Golden Star. Generally, forward-looking information and statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “plans”, “expects”, “is
expected”,  “budget”,  “scheduled”,  “estimates”,  “forecasts”,  “intends”,  “anticipates”,  “believes”  or  variations  of  such  words  and  phrases  (including  negative  or
grammatical variations) or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved” or the
negative connotation or grammatical variation thereof. Forward-looking information and statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, information or
statements with respect to: production,  cash operating costs,  and all-in sustaining costs estimates and guidance for 2019 on a consolidated basis;  sustaining and
development capital expenditure estimates and guidance for 2019 on a consolidated basis; the Company's achievement of 2019 consolidated guidance; the range of
consolidated gold production for 2019; planned exploration and drilling at Wassa and Prestea; the publication of a Preliminary Economic Assessment for Wassa
Underground in the second half of 2019; improvements in raise development, long hole drilling and blasting productivities at Prestea Underground in 2019; the
release of further drilling results and an updated Mineral Resource Estimate in the first quarter of 2019; the anticipation that Wassa’s Inferred Mineral Resources
will be increased by the results of drilling results announced December 17, 2018; the drilling focus on Father Brown and the Wassa Southern Extension in 2019 in
order  to  accelerate  organic  growth;  the  drilling  of  the  down plunge  extension  of  West  Reef  with  the  objective  of  resource  expansion  of  the  deposit;  drilling  at
Father Brown to test its structures at depth on 100-metre spaced sections; the objective of increasing the annual production rate at Prestea and extending the mine
life; the intention to construct a paste backfill plant at Wassa, with the remainder of the capital budget at Wassa intended to include provisions for decline and ore
drive  development  and  purchasing  of  additional  mining  equipment;  the  objective  at  Father  Brown  of  developing  a  standalone  underground  operation  with  a
production rate of 1,500 tpd; the continued sourcing of ore from the open pits close to Prestea in the first quarter of 2019; the potential for Father Brown to be a
second high grade  ore  supply for  the  Wassa  processing  plant;  the  Company’s  debt  repayment  obligations  for  2019;  the  settlement  of  vested performance  share
units;  the ability of the Company to generate operating margins; Golden Star's ability to successfully pursue organic or external growth; the sufficiency of cash
available to support the Company’s operations and mandatory expenditures for the next twelve months; the timing and use of proceeds of the La Mancha private
placement and the ability of the Company to unlock organic growth opportunities and/or participate in the consolidation of the African gold sector.

Forward-looking information and statements are made based upon certain assumptions and other important factors that, if untrue, could cause the actual results,
performance or achievements of Golden Star to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such statements.
Such statements and information are based on numerous assumptions regarding present and future business strategies and the environment in which Golden Star
will  operate  in  the  future,  including  the  price  of  gold,  anticipated  costs  and  ability  to  achieve  goals.  Certain  important  factors  that  could  cause  actual  results,
performances  or  achievements  to  differ  materially  from  those  set  forth  in  the  forward-looking  information  and  statements  include,  among  others,  gold  price
volatility,  discrepancies  between  actual  and  estimated  production,  mineral  reserves  and  resources  and  metallurgical  recoveries,  mining  operational  and
development  risks,  litigation  risks,  liquidity  risks,  suppliers  suspending  or  denying  delivery  of  products  or  services,  regulatory  restrictions  (including
environmental  regulatory  restrictions  and  liability),  actions  by  governmental  authorities  (including  changes  in  taxation),  currency  fluctuations,  the  speculative
nature of gold exploration, the global economic climate, dilution, share price volatility, the availability of capital on reasonable terms or at all, local and community
impacts  and  issues,  results  of  pending  or  future  feasibility  studies,  competition,  loss  of  key  employees,  additional  funding  requirements  and  defective  title  to
mineral claims or property. Although Golden Star has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from those described in forward-looking information and statements, there may be other factors that cause actual results, performance or achievements
not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended.

Forward-looking information and statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause the actual results,
performance  or  achievements  of  Golden  Star  to  be  materially  different  from  those  expressed  or  implied  by  such  forward-looking  information  and  statements,
including  but  not  limited  to:  risks  related  to  international  operations,  including  economic  and  political  instability  in  foreign  jurisdictions  in  which  Golden  Star
operates;  risks  related  to  current  global  financial  conditions;  actual  results  of  current  exploration  activities;  environmental  risks;  future  prices  of  gold;  possible
variations in mineral
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reserves and mineral resources, grade or recovery rates; mine development and operating risks; an inability to obtain power for operations on favourable terms or at
all; mining plant or equipment breakdowns or failures; an inability to obtain products or services for operations or mine development from vendors and suppliers
on reasonable terms, including pricing, or at all;  accidents,  labor disputes and other risks of the mining industry; delays in obtaining governmental approvals or
financing or in the completion of development or construction activities; risks related to indebtedness and the service of such indebtedness, as well as those factors
discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Golden Star's Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2017. Additional and/or updated risk
factors, if applicable, will be included in our annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2018, which will be filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Although Golden Star has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results, performances and achievements to differ materially from those
contained in forward-looking information and statements,  there may be other  factors  that  cause results,  performance and achievements  not  to  be as  anticipated,
estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results, performance, and achievements and future events
could  differ  materially  from  those  anticipated  in  such  statements.  Accordingly,  readers  should  not  place  undue  reliance  on  forward-looking  information  and
statements. Forward-looking information and statements are made as of the date hereof and accordingly are subject to change after such date. Except as otherwise
indicated by Golden Star,  these statements  do not  reflect  the potential  impact  of  any non-recurring or other  special  items or of  any dispositions,  monetizations,
mergers,  acquisitions,  other  business  combinations  or  other  transactions  that  may  be  announced  or  that  may  occur  after  the  date  hereof.  Forward-looking
information and statements are provided for the purpose of providing information about management's current expectations and plans and allowing investors and
others  to  get  a  better  understanding  of  the  Company's  operating  environment.  Golden  Star  does  not  undertake  to  update  any  forward-looking  information  and
statements that are included in this MD&A, except as required by applicable securities laws.

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING RESERVES AND RESOURCES

Scientific and technical information contained in this MD&A was reviewed and approved by Dr. Martin Raffield, Senior Vice- President, Technical Services for
Golden Star, who is a “qualified person” as defined by National Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43-101”), and by S. Mitchel
Wasel, BSc Geology, who is a Qualified Person pursuant to NI 43-101.  Mr. Wasel is Vice President Exploration for Golden Star and an active member of the
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. All mineral reserves and mineral resources have been calculated in accordance with the standards of the Canadian
Institute  of  Mining,  Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”) and in  compliance with the requirements  of  NI 43-101.  All  mineral  resources  are  reported inclusive  of
mineral reserves. Mineral resources which are not mineral reserves do not have demonstrated economic viability. Information on data verification performed on,
and other scientific and technical information relating to, the mineral properties mentioned in this MD&A that are considered to be material mineral properties of
the Company are contained in Golden Star's Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2017 and the following current technical reports for those
properties  available  at  www.sedar.com:  (i)  Wassa  -  “NI  43-101  Technical  Report  on  feasibility  study  of  the  Wassa  open  pit  mine  and  underground  project  in
Ghana”  effective  date  December  31,  2014;  and  (ii)  Prestea  Underground  -  “NI  43-101  Technical  Report  on  Resources  and  Reserves,  Golden  Star  Resources,
Bogoso/Prestea Gold Mine, Ghana” effective date December 31, 2017.

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors

This MD&A has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the securities laws in effect in Canada, which differ materially from the requirements of
United States securities laws applicable to U.S. companies. Information concerning our mineral properties has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of Canadian securities laws, which differ in material  respects from the requirements of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) set
forth in Industry Guide 7. Under the SEC's Industry Guide 7, mineralization may not be classified as a “reserve” unless the determination has been made that the
mineralization could be economically and legally produced or extracted at the time of the reserve determination, and the SEC does not recognize the reporting of
mineral deposits which do not meet the SEC Industry Guide 7 definition of “Reserve”. In accordance with NI 43-101, the terms “mineral reserve”, “proven mineral
reserve”, “probable mineral reserve”, “mineral resource”, “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource” and “inferred mineral resource” are defined
in accordance with CIM standards. While the terms “mineral resource”, “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource” and “inferred mineral resource”
are recognized and required by NI 43-101,  the SEC does not  recognize  them. You are cautioned that,  except  for  that  portion of  mineral  resources classified as
mineral reserves, mineral resources do not have demonstrated economic viability. Inferred mineral resources have a high degree of uncertainty as to their existence
and as to whether they can be economically or legally mined. It cannot be assumed that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource will ever be upgraded to a
higher category. Therefore, you are cautioned not to assume that all or any part of an inferred mineral resource exists, that it can be economically or legally mined,
or that it  will  ever be upgraded to a higher category.  Likewise, you are cautioned not to assume that all  or any part  of measured mineral  resources or indicated
mineral resources will ever be upgraded into mineral reserves.
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OVERVIEW OF GOLDEN STAR
Golden Star is an established, African-focused gold producer that holds a 90% interest in two producing gold mines in Ghana.

The Wassa Complex (“Wassa”) transformed into an underground-only operation in January 2017. The Prestea Complex (“Prestea”) comprises the Prestea Open
Pits and the Prestea Underground Mine (“Prestea Underground”) and is planned to transform into an underground-only operation during the first quarter of 2019.
The  Wassa  Underground  Mine  (“Wassa  Underground”)  achieved  commercial  production  on  January  1,  2017,  and  Prestea  Underground  achieved  commercial
production on February 1, 2018.

Golden Star’s objective is to grow into a best-in-class, mid-tier gold producer. We aim to expand the Company and its production profile through the exploration
and development of our existing mines, particularly Wassa, and through the acquisition of additional mines.

As the  winner  of  the  Prospectors  & Developers  Association  of  Canada  (“PDAC”)  2018 Environmental  and Social  Responsibility  Award,  we are  committed  to
leaving a positive and sustainable legacy in the locations where we operate.

The Company is a reporting issuer or the equivalent in all provinces of Canada, in Ghana and in the United States, and files disclosure documents with securities
regulatory authorities in Canada and Ghana, and with the SEC in the United States.

SUMMARY OF OPERATING AND FINANCIAL RESULTS

  
For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended  

 December 31,

OPERATING SUMMARY  2018  2017  2018  2017

Wassa gold sold oz 37,171  41,627  149,568  137,142
Prestea gold sold oz 11,230  29,581  75,411  130,193
Total gold sold oz 48,401  71,208  224,979  267,335
Wassa gold produced oz 37,562  42,001  149,697  137,234
Prestea gold produced oz 11,284  29,768  75,087  130,331
Total gold produced oz 48,846  71,769  224,784  267,565
Average realized gold price 1 $/oz 1,185  1,237  1,225  1,219
         

Cost of sales per ounce - Consolidated 2 $/oz 1,351  1,111  1,156  998
Cost of sales per ounce - Wassa 2 $/oz 836  1,096  898  1,153
Cost of sales per ounce - Prestea 2 $/oz 3,054  1,137  1,681  823
Cash operating cost per ounce - Consolidated 2 $/oz 905  812  847  763
Cash operating cost per ounce - Wassa 2 $/oz 614  775  629  880
Cash operating cost per ounce - Prestea 2 $/oz 1,867  875  1,292  632
All-in sustaining cost per ounce - Consolidated 2 $/oz 1,218  1,002  1,107  944

1 Average realized gold price per ounce excludes pre-commercial production ounces sold at Prestea Underground in 2018 and 2017.
2 See  “Non-GAAP Financial  Measures”  section  for  a  reconciliation  of  cost  of  sales  per  ounce,  cash  operating  cost  per  ounce  and  all-in  sustaining  cost  per  ounce  to  cost  of  sales  before
depreciation and amortization.
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For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended December

31,

FINANCIAL SUMMARY  2018  2017³  2018  2017³

Gold revenues $'000 57,339  81,845  273,017  315,497
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $'000 57,565  66,401  223,729  226,482
Depreciation and amortization $'000 7,824  7,095  33,939  31,792
Mine operating (loss)/margin $'000 (8,050)  8,349  15,349  57,223
General and administrative expense $'000 2,244  7,881  16,428  25,090
(Gain)/loss on fair value of financial instruments, net $'000 (3,274)  1,902  (6,786)  (2,057)
Net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders $'000 (9,318)  12,601  (18,123)  38,771
Adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders 1 $'000 (5,211)  10,701  (1,916)  41,642
(Loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders - basic $/share (0.09)  0.17  (0.21)  0.52
(Loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders - diluted $/share (0.09)  0.16  (0.21)  0.48
Adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders - basic 1 $/share (0.05)  0.14  (0.02)  0.56
Cash (used)/provided by operations $'000 (24,676)  10,939  (7,555)  55,176
Cash (used)/provided by operations before working capital changes 2 $'000 (9,416)  6,760  9,617  62,624
Cash (used)/provided by operations per share - basic $/share (0.23)  0.14  (0.09)  0.74
Cash (used)/provided by operations before working capital changes per share - basic 2 $/share (0.09)  0.09  0.11  0.84
Capital expenditures $'000 15,280  16,751  46,834  69,638

1 See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for a reconciliation of adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders and adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to
Golden Star shareholders to net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders.
2 See  “Non-GAAP Financial  Measures”  section  for  an  explanation  of  the  calculation  of  cash  (used)/provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  and  cash  (used)/provided  by
operations before working capital changes per share - basic.
3 Per share data has been re-stated to reflect the share consolidation that was implemented on October 30, 2018.

• Gold revenue totaled $57.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $81.8 million in the same period in 2017. Gold revenue for the fourth
quarter of 2018 was $24.5 million or 30% lower than the same period in 2017, as a result of a decrease in gold revenue generated from Wassa and Prestea.
Compared with the same period in 2017, gold revenue generated from Prestea decreased by 56% during the fourth quarter of 2018 resulting from the planned
decrease  in  production  from  the  Prestea  Open  Pits  and  the  slower  than  expected  ramp  up  at  Prestea  Underground.  Gold  revenue  generated  from  Wassa
decreased by 15% as a result of Wassa fully transitioning into an underground-only mining operation. During the fourth quarter of 2018, gold revenue from
Wassa Underground accounted for 96% of total gold revenue of Wassa compared to 50% in the same period in 2017. The consolidated average realized gold
price was $1,185 per ounce in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $1,237 per ounce for the same period in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018,
gold revenue was $273.0 million , a 13% decrease compared to $315.5 million in the same period in 2017 due mainly to a 14% decrease in gold sold, offset
partially by a 1% increase in average realized gold price.

• Gold sales totaled 48,401 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 71,208 ounces sold in the same period in 2017. Gold sales in the fourth
quarter  of  2018 decreased  32% from the  same period  in  2017 as  a  result  of  a  decrease  in  gold  sales  from Wassa  and Prestea.  Wassa  gold  sales  of 37,171
ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018 were 11% lower than the same period in 2017 as a result of Wassa fully-transitioning into an underground-only mining
operation, as mining at Wassa Main Pit was suspended in January 2018. Although total Wassa gold sales decreased, Wassa Underground gold sales increased
71% in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the same period in 2017. Prestea gold sales of 11,230 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018 were 62% lower than
the  same period in  2017 due primarily  to  the  planned decrease  in  production  from the  Prestea  Open Pits  and the  slower  than expected  ramp up at  Prestea
Underground. For the year ended December 31, 2018, gold sales of 224,979 ounces were 16% lower than the 267,335 ounces sold in 2017 due primarily to the
lower than expected production at Prestea Underground, offset partially by the increase in production at Wassa Underground.

• Cost  of  sales  excluding  depreciation  and  amortization  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  totaled $57.6  million compared  to $66.4  million in  the  same
period in 2017. Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization in the fourth quarter of 2018 decreased 13% compared to the same period in 2017 due
mainly to a decrease in mine operating expense resulting from Wassa fully transitioning into an underground-only mining operation and a decrease in royalties
due to lower gold sold at Wassa and
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Prestea. This was offset partially by an increase in severance, related to the Prestea improvement plan implemented during the fourth quarter, which included
right-sizing the workforce at Prestea and optimizing the management and supervisory structure. For the year ended December 31, 2018, cost of sales excluding
depreciation and amortization was $223.7 million , a 1% decrease compared to $226.5 million in 2017. The decrease was largely due to a 19% decrease in cost
of sales excluding depreciation and amortization at Wassa, primarily related to a decrease in mine operating expenses resulting from fully transitioning to an
underground-only  mining  operation  at  the  end  of  January  2018.  This  decrease  was  offset  by  a  26%  increase  in  cost  of  sales  excluding  depreciation  and
amortization at Prestea, related to the continued drawdown of ore stockpiles, an increase in mine operating expenses related to Prestea Underground costs no
longer  being  capitalized  as  commercial  production  was  achieved  on  February  1,  2018  and  a  $7.0  million  increase  in  severance  related  to  the  Prestea
improvement plan implemented in the fourth quarter of 2018.

• Consolidated cost of sales per ounce was $1,351 in the fourth quarter of 2018, 22% higher than $1,111 in the same period in 2017. Consolidated cash
operating  cost  per  ounce  was $905 in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018,  11%  higher  than $812 in  the  same  period  in  2017. Wassa  achieved  a  21%
improvement  in  cash  operating  cost  per  ounce  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  due  mainly  to  a  reduction  in  mine  operating  expenses,  as  Wassa  was  fully
transitioned  into  an  underground-only  mining  operation  at  the  beginning  of  the  quarter,  offset  partially  by  lower  gold  sales  in  the  period.  The  lower  cash
operating cost per ounce at Wassa was offset by a 113% increase in cash operating cost per ounce at Prestea resulting primarily from a decrease in gold sold in
the quarter compared to the same period in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, consolidated cash operating cost per ounce increased 11% to $847
from $763 in 2017 due mainly to a  decrease  in gold sold and an increase  in inventory costs  and mine operating expenses at  Prestea,  offset  partially  by an
increase in gold sold and decrease in mine operating expenses at Wassa.

• Depreciation and amortization expense totaled $7.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to $7.1 million in the same period in 2017. The
increase  in  depreciation  and  amortization  expense  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  was  due  to  an  increase  in  depreciation  at  both  Wassa  and  Prestea.  Wassa
depreciation increased mainly due to an increase in gold production and mining interests, while Prestea depreciation increased due to the commencement of
depreciation of Prestea Underground assets as commercial production was achieved on February 1, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2018 depreciation
and amortization expense totaled $33.9 million , 7% higher than $31.8 million in 2017 mainly due to an increase in gold production and mining interests at
Wassa.

• General and administrative expense totaled $2.2 million in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018,  compared  to $7.9 million in  the same period in 2017 .  The
decrease  in  general  and  administrative  expense  for  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  was  due  primarily  to  a  $6.5  million  decrease  in  share-based  compensation
expense compared to the same period in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, general and administrative expense totaled $16.4 million compared to
$25.1  million in  2017.  The  decrease  relates  primarily  to  an  $11.3  million  decrease  in  share-based  compensation  expense  compared  to  2017.  General  and
administrative expense, excluding share-based compensation, totaled $4.1 million and $15.6 million in the three months and year ended December 31, 2018,
compared to $2.8 million and $12.5 million in the same periods in 2017.  The increase in both periods relates primarily to an increase in salaries and benefits.

• Finance  expense  totaled  $3.8  million  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018,  compared  to  $1.1  million  in  the  same  period  in  2017. The  increase  in  finance
expense  for  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  was  due  primarily  to  a  $2.5  million  decrease  in  capitalized  interest,  as  Prestea  Underground  achieved  commercial
production on February 1, 2018 and a $1.2 million increase in non-cash interest  on the financing component of deferred revenue, partially offset by a $0.5
million increase in interest income, a $0.3 million increase in net foreign exchange gains and a $0.2 million increase in accretion of rehabilitation provision
expense. For the year ended December 31, 2018 a total of $7.9 million in interest payments were made, compared to $7.3 million in 2017.

• The Company recorded a gain of $3.3 million on fair value of financial instruments in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to a $1.9 million loss in
the same period in 2017. The $3.3 million fair  value gain in the fourth quarter of 2018 relates to a non-cash revaluation gain on the embedded derivative
liability of the 7% Convertible Debentures. The $1.9 million fair value loss recognized in the fourth quarter of 2017 was related to a non-cash revaluation loss
on  the  embedded  derivative  liability  of  the  7%  Convertible  Debentures.  For  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018  and  2017,  the  Company  recorded  a $6.8
million and $2.1 million gain on fair value of financial instruments, respectively. The valuation techniques used for these financial instruments are disclosed in
the “Financial Instruments” section of this MD&A.

• Deferred income tax expense was $1.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to a $12.9 million deferred income tax recovery for the same
period in 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, deferred income tax expense was $12.4 million, compared to a $12.9 million deferred income tax
recovery in 2017. The deferred income tax expense of $1.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2018 and deferred income tax expense of $12.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018 resulted primarily from the reversal of deferred tax assets, as tax losses and other attributes were applied to reduce Wassa's taxable
income. The $12.9 million income tax recovery in the fourth quarter and year-ended December 31, 2017 was a result  of recognizing tax assets on Wassa's
carry forward tax losses and other deductible temporary differences.
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• Net loss attributable to Golden Star shareholders for the fourth quarter of 2018 totaled $9.3 million or $0.09 loss per share, compared to a net income
of $12.6 million or $0.17 income per share (basic) in the same period in 2017. The net loss and loss per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders in
the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the net income and income per share (basic) in the same period of 2017 was mainly due to a decrease of $16.4 million
in mine operating margin, a $14.5 million decrease in income tax recovery, a $2.7 million increase in finance expense and a $2.4 million decrease in other
income, partially offset  by a $5.6 million decrease in general and administrative expenses and a $5.2 million increase in the gain on fair  value of financial
instruments. For the year ended December 31, 2018, net loss attributable to Golden Star shareholders totaled $18.1 million or $0.21 loss per share, compared
to a net income of $38.8 million or $0.52 income per share (basic) in 2017. The net loss and loss per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders for the year
ended December 31, 2018 compared to the net income and income per share (basic) in 2017 was mainly due to a decrease of $41.9 million in mine operating
margin, $25.3 million increase in deferred income tax expense, and a $9.6 million increase in finance expense, partially offset by a $8.7 million decrease in
general and administrative expenses and a $4.7 million increase in the gain on fair value of financial instruments.

• Adjusted net loss attributable to Golden Star shareholders (see “ Non-GAAP Financial Measures ” section) was $5.2 million in the fourth quarter of
2018, compared to adjusted net income attributable to Golden Star shareholders of $10.7 million for the same period in 2017. The decrease in adjusted
net  income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  for  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  compared  to  the  same  period  in  2017  was  primarily  due  to  a  lower
consolidated  mine  operating  margin  related  to  Prestea,  higher  general  and  administrative  expenses  (excluding  share  based  compensation)  and  higher  net
finance  and  exploration  expenses.  For  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018,  the  adjusted  net  loss  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  was $1.9 million
compared to adjusted net income of $41.6 million in 2017. The decrease in adjusted net income attributable to Golden Star shareholders for the year ended
December 31, 2018, was mainly due to a lower consolidated mine operating margin related to Prestea, higher general and administrative expenses (excluding
share based compensation) and higher net finance and exploration expenses.

• Cash used by operations before working capital changes (see “ Non-GAAP Financial Measures ” section) was $9.4 million for the fourth quarter of
2018,  compared  to $6.8  million of  cash  provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  in  the  same  period  in  2017. The  decrease  in  cash
provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  was  due  primarily  to  a  decrease  in  consolidated  mine  operating  margin  related  to  Prestea  and  an
increase in consolidated general and administrative (excluding share based compensation), exploration, reclamation and interest payments. For the year ended
December  31,  2018,  cash  provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  was $9.6  million compared  to $62.6  million in  2017.  The  decrease  was
primarily  due  to  a  decrease  in  consolidated  mine  operating  margin  related  to  Prestea  and  a  $10.0  million  decrease  in  advance  payments  from RGLD AG
(“RGLD”), as the full $145.0 million in advance payments under the Company's gold purchase and sale agreement with RGLD (the “Streaming Agreement”)
were received by the end of January 2017.

• Capital expenditures for the fourth quarter of 2018 totaled $15.3 million compared to $16.8 million in the same period in 2017. Capital expenditures at
Wassa during the fourth quarter of 2018 comprised 90% of total capital expenditures and totaled $13.9 million , which included $4.5 million on exploration
drilling,  $4.0  million  on  Wassa  Underground  capitalized  development,  $3.9  million  on  Wassa  Underground  infrastructure  and  $1.5  million  on  other
equipment.  Capital  expenditures  at  Prestea  during the  fourth  quarter  of  2018 comprised 10% of  total  capital  expenditures  and totaled $1.4 million , which
included $0.9 million on Prestea Underground, $0.4 million on exploration drilling and $0.1 million on other equipment.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2019
Production and cost guidance

 
Gold production

Cash operating costs
All-in sustaining

costs
 thousands of ounces $ per ounce $ per ounce

Wassa 170 - 180 560 - 600  
Prestea   50 - 60 840 - 1,000  

Consolidated 220 - 240 620 - 680 875 - 955

Wassa's production guidance has been increased by 17% from the 2018 achieved production of 149,697 ounces of gold. In 2019, Wassa is expected to produce at
an  average  rate  of  approximately  3,500  tonnes  per  day  ("tpd").  Deep  drilling  has  continued  to  show  positive  results  and  studies  are  ongoing  to  decide  on  the
optimal long-term development of the asset, including the appropriate mining method. A Preliminary Economic Assessment is expected in the second half of 2019.

At Prestea, with the cessation of open pit mining and the ongoing ramp-up of underground volumes, guidance for 2019 has been set at 50,000-60,000 ounces of
gold for the year. In the final quarter of 2018, the Company concluded Prestea's rightsizing by reducing the workforce and establishing a lower direct operating
cost  base.  During  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018,  the  plant  at  Prestea  was  converted  to  a  low  tonnage,  high  grade  configuration  allowing  it  to  efficiently  treat  the
underground production. At the end of 2018, improvements were being recorded in Prestea's lead production indicators.

Improvements in raise development, long hole drilling and blasting productivities are expected to continue to bring the production rate up to the 650 tpd target in
2019.
Capital expenditure guidance

 

Sustaining Development Total

 $ millions $ millions $ millions

Wassa 20.7 18.1 38.8
Prestea 9.5 — 9.5
Exploration — 13.4 13.4

Consolidated 30.2 31.5 61.7

For 2019, capital has been allocated to install  infrastructure that is expected to achieve increased mining rates of 4,000 tpd in early 2020 at Wassa. This capital
includes  $18.1  million  of  development  capital,  which  will  be  allocated  to  mobile  equipment,  paste  backfill  plant  construction,  electrical  upgrades  and
improvements to the tailing facilities.

Capital has also been allocated for delineation and stope definition drilling in order to potentially increase Proven Mineral Reserves.

A budget  of  $13.4  million  has  been  set  for  exploration  activities  in  2019,  broken  down to  include  $9.8  million  at  Wassa  for  both  inferred  resource  expansion
drilling and for seeking to convert inferred mineral resources to indicated mineral resources. In addition, an initial $1.5 million will be dedicated to Father Brown
for infill expansion drilling. At Prestea, $1.6 million has been allocated for expansion drilling. The remaining $0.5 million is earmarked for follow-up drilling to be
defined when results are delivered.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENTS
Gold prices

Spot gold prices were $1,282 per ounce at December 31, 2018, consistent with $1,283 per ounce at December 31, 2017. The Company realized an average gold
price of $1,225 per ounce for gold sales during 2018, compared to an average realized gold price of $1,219 per ounce in 2017. The spot gold price on February 19,
2019 was $1,325 per ounce.

Revenue from spot sales during the year ended December 31, 2018 resulted in an average realized price of $1,271 per ounce whereas revenue recognized from the
Streaming Agreement with RGLD resulted in an average realized price of $835 per ounce.
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For the Year Ended  
December 31, 2018

 $'000  Ounces  
Realized price per

ounce
Revenue - Stream arrangement      
     Cash proceeds $ 6,036     
     Deferred revenue recognized 13,738     
 $ 19,774  23,692  $ 835
Revenue - Spot sales 253,243  199,238  1,271
Total $ 273,017  222,930  $ 1,225

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recognized $10.6 million in deferred revenue, $3.1 million in amortization of financing component, and
$4.8  million in  interest  on  financing  component  of  deferred  revenue.  Had  the  Company  not  adopted  IFRS 15,  deferred  revenue  recognized  for  the year ended
December 31, 2018 would have been $13.7 million,  and there would have been no amortization of financing component or interest  on financing component of
deferred revenue.

Private Placement

On October 1, 2018, the Company closed a $125.7 million strategic investment by La Mancha Holding S.à r.l. ("La Mancha"), a Luxembourg-incorporated private
gold  investment  company,  through  a  private  placement  of  common  shares.  Following  receipt  of  the  funds,  La  Mancha  was  issued  163,210,500  Golden  Star
common shares (32,642,100 post-share consolidation), representing approximately 30% of the outstanding share capital (on a non-diluted basis) after giving effect
to La Mancha's investment. Pursuant to the transaction, La Mancha has customary anti-dilution and demand registration rights and is subject to a two year equity
lock-up, as well as to certain customary standstill provisions. In addition, two new directors were appointed to the Company's Board of Directors pursuant to La
Mancha's right to appoint up to three nominees. Andrew Wray, Chief Executive Officer of La Mancha, and Graham Crew, La Mancha's second nominee, joined
the Board of Directors effective October 1, 2018.

The table below provides a breakdown of the expected use of proceeds from La Mancha’s $125.7 million strategic investment (net cash of $125.0 million). Golden
Star has presented the use of proceeds as a series of ranges as the size of the exploration budget is dependent on the success of the exploration program at each
asset  and  this  will  impact  the  size  of  the  development  and  expansion  budget  and  the  budget  for  general  corporate  purposes.  Golden  Star  has  begun to  use  the
proceeds  from  La  Mancha’s  strategic  investment  on  its  organic  projects  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  and  expects  to  continue  to  do  so  until  the  end  of  2020,
however, use of any proceeds for any external growth opportunities will be assessed on a case-by-case basis as they arise.

(Stated in millions of U.S dollars) Range
Exploration $ 20.0 $ 35.0
Development and expansion 30.0 75.0
General corporate purposes 75.0 15.0
Total (Net Cash) $ 125.0 $ 125.0

Exploration

Golden Star expects the majority of the $20.0 million to $35.0 million exploration budget set out in the above table to be allocated to Wassa Underground.

The second exploration focus is anticipated to be the Father Brown satellite deposit, which has the potential to be a second high grade ore supply for the Wassa
processing  plant  as  an  underground  operation.  Golden  Star  mined  Father  Brown  between  2011  and  2015  as  an  open  pit  operation.  The  two  objectives  of  the
planned drilling are to assess if the deposit extends beyond the current Inferred Mineral Resources beneath the Father Brown and Adoikrom pits.

The third focus of the exploration program is Prestea Underground, and the objective of this drilling is resource expansion of the West Reef deposit.

Golden  Star  currently  has  deployed  fifteen  diamond  drill  rigs  across  its  three  targets,  with  seven  drilling  Wassa  from  surface,  four  drilling  from  Wassa
Underground, two at the Father Brown satellite deposit and two drill rigs at Prestea Underground.

Development and Expansion

The development and expansion budget set out in the above table has the objective of increasing the throughput of Wassa Underground and potentially developing
the Father Brown satellite deposit.
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At Wassa Underground, the objective is to increase Wassa Underground’s average production rate from approximately 3,000 tpd in 2018 to approximately 4,000
tpd  by  mid-2020.  Golden  Star  intends  to  construct  a  paste  backfill  plant,  with  the  remainder  of  the  budget  to  include  provisions  for  decline  and  ore  drive
development and purchasing of additional mining equipment.

At Father Brown, the objective is to develop an underground mining operation with a production rate of potentially 1,500 tpd. The ore from Father Brown will be
hauled to the Wassa plant for processing. However, the construction of the Father Brown underground operation is dependent on the success of the exploration
program at the deposit.

General Corporate Purposes

The budget for general corporate purposes set out in the above table has a range of $15.0 million to $75.0 million primarily because if Golden Star chooses not to
develop Father Brown into an underground operation, further funds will be available for severance expenses at Prestea and general corporate purposes. Golden Star
may choose to use the funds for its external growth strategy or for organic development elsewhere within the Company.

The use of proceeds is discretionary and may be updated in accordance with Golden Star’s plans to pursue organic or external growth.

Share Consolidation

On October 30, 2018, Golden Star consolidated its issued and outstanding common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for every five pre-
consolidation common shares (the "Consolidation"). The Consolidation was approved by the Company's shareholders at a special meeting held on September 17,
2018. Prior to the La Mancha transaction, there were 380.8 million Golden Star common shares issued and outstanding. After the completion of the transaction,
there were 544.0 million common shares issued and outstanding, and post-Consolidation this number was approximately 108.8 million common shares issued and
outstanding.

Exploration Update

During the fourth quarter of 2018, exploration activities at Wassa continued to focus on step out and inferred to indicated mineral resource conversion drilling. At
Prestea  Underground in-fill  drilling  continued  to  delineate  Indicated  Mineral  Resources  along the  West  Reef  deposit.  Surface  drilling  of  the  Father  Brown and
Adoikrom deposits continued in the fourth quarter, testing the structures at depth, below the historic open pits and looking to expand the current inferred mineral
resources.

Golden Star released the results of drilling undertaken during the second half of 2018 on December 17, 2018¹.  These results confirmed that gold mineralization
continues to the south of the Inferred Mineral Resources at Wassa Underground, demonstrating the extension of the deposit, which could result in an increase in
Wassa’s Inferred Mineral Resources. Infill drilling south of the current Mineral Reserve has also extended the known Inferred Mineral Resource both up and down
dip as well as identified new gold mineralization in the hanging and foot wall of the main B-shoot horizon.   Some of the previously released significant intercepts
were as follows²:

• 10.4 metres grading 11.9 g/t of Au from 774.5 metres, including 6.4 metres grading 16.2 g/t Au in hole BS18DD393M
• 16.2 metres grading 6.7 g/t Au from 944.0 m in hole BS18DD392D1 (drilled depth from wedge)
• 15.6 metres grading 4.0 g/t Au from 256.7 m including 5.2 metres grading 6.7 g/t Au in hole BS18DD391D2 (drilled depths from wedge)

At the end of the fourth quarter of 2018, seven drill rigs were employed at Wassa with the objective of further testing the extensions of the Wassa Underground
gold  mineralization  to  the  south  as  well  as  converting  the  Inferred  Mineral  Resources  to  Indicated  Mineral  Resources.    Five  holes  were  completed  during  the
fourth  quarter  totaling  approximately  4,800  metres,  the  results  of  which  were  released  on  December  17,  2018.   Golden  Star  expects  to  release  further  drilling
results and an updated Mineral Resource Estimate in the first quarter of 2019.

Prestea Underground

Drilling of the West Reef from 24 Level at Prestea Underground continued during the fourth quarter of 2018, with one drill rig completing eight holes for a total of
1,744 metres.  The drilling focused on continuing to in-fill the existing Indicated Mineral Resources and testing Inferred Mineral Resources between the 21 and 27
Levels. The 262 drill chamber on 24 level was completed in the fourth quarter of 2018, which will enable a second underground drill rig to be mobilized to the
mine to test the down plunge extension of West Reef. This drilling commenced in February 2019.

Father Brown satellite deposit

On February 19, 2019, the Company announced an updated Mineral Resource estimate at Father Brown, consisting of the Father Brown Zone and Adoikrom Zone.
Inferred Mineral Resources have increased 93% from 246,000 ounces at year-end 2017, to 474,743 ounces at an average grade of 6.7 grams per tonne (“g/t”) of
gold (“Au”). The updated Indicated and Inferred Mineral
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Resource estimate includes results of 18 holes totaling 8.873 metres of drilling. In 2019, a drilling budget of $1.5 million will be allocated to inferred expansion
drilling of 9,000 metres. Further drilling will be assessed to expand the Inferred Mineral Resources and drill off the Inferred Mineral Resources to seek to upgrade
them to the Indicated Mineral Resource category.

Ecobank IV Loan and Royal Gold Loan Repayment

On June 28, 2018, Golden Star (Wassa) Limited ("GWSL"), a subsidiary of Golden Star, closed a $20.0 million secured loan facility (the "Facility") with Ecobank
Ghana Limited. The Company used the Facility to repay in full its existing $20.0 million medium term loan facility with Royal Gold, Inc. that would have been
due in full on May 5, 2019 and which required a cash flow sweep. There are no prepayment penalties associated with the Facility. The Facility is repayable within
60 months of initial drawdown. Interest on amounts drawn under the Facility is payable monthly in arrears at an interest rate equal to three month LIBOR plus a
spread  of  7.5%  per  annum.  During  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018,  the  Company  made  principal  payments  totaling  $2.0  million  resulting  in  a  remaining
principal balance of $18.0 million ($17.7 million net of transaction fees) at December 31, 2018.

Ecobank III Loan Drawdown

On January 24, 2018, the remaining $15.0 million available under the Ecobank III loan facility was drawn. The balance of the Ecobank III loan subsequent to the
drawdown was $25.0 million with the full amount available under the facility now drawn. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company made principal
payments totaling $4.7 million resulting in a remaining principal balance of $20.3 million ($19.9 million net of transaction fees) at December 31, 2018.

Commercial production achieved at Prestea Underground

On February 1, 2018, commercial production was achieved at the Company's Prestea Underground Mine in Ghana. Exploration drilling is underway at the mine
with  the  objective  of  increasing  the  annual  production  rate  and  extending  the  mine  life.  Gold  production  is  anticipated  to  ramp  up  during  2019  to  name  plate
production rate of 650 tpd.

¹ See press release entitled, “Golden Star Reports Drilling Results from Wassa Underground Gold Mine”, dated December 17, 2018.
² All widths quoted are estimated true widths.
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WASSA OPERATIONS
Through a 90% owned subsidiary, Golden Star (Wassa) Limited, the Company owns and operates the Wassa Complex. Wassa is located in the southwestern region
of Ghana, approximately 35 kilometers northeast  of the town of Tarkwa. In 2017, Golden Star operated the Wassa Main Pit  (an open pit  operation) and Wassa
Underground (an underground operation). As of February 1, 2018, Wassa became an underground-only operation. Wassa has a non-refractory processing plant (the
“Wassa processing plant”) consisting of a carbon-in-leach (“CIL”) system with a capacity of 2.7 million tonnes per annum. In 2017 and 2018, ore from both the
Wassa Main Pit and Wassa Underground was processed at the Wassa processing plant.

  
For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended  

 December 31,

  2018  2017  2018  2017

WASSA FINANCIAL RESULTS         
Revenue $'000 44,109  51,628  183,078  167,376

         

Mine operating expenses $'000 22,044  31,012  86,916  115,625
Severance charges $'000 —  5,217  4,970  6,316
Royalties $'000 2,316  2,682  9,508  8,652
Operating costs from metals inventory $'000 789  1,253  7,184  5,080
Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off $'000 349  —  3,684  2,410
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $'000 25,498  40,164  112,262  138,083
Depreciation and amortization $'000 5,593  5,440  22,066  20,052
Mine operating margin $'000 13,018  6,024  48,750  9,241

         

Capital expenditures $'000 13,898  8,470  35,420  21,583
         

WASSA OPERATING RESULTS         
Ore mined - Main Pit t —  520,482  54,281  1,601,004
Ore mined - Underground t 309,504  171,907  1,075,218  681,141
Ore mined - Total t 309,504  692,389  1,129,499  2,282,145
Waste mined - Main Pit t —  1,043,854  72,538  6,037,366
Waste mined - Underground t 89,288  60,054  309,265  199,550
Waste mined - Total t 89,288  1,103,908  381,803  6,236,916
Ore processed - Main Pit t 92,211  476,828  525,666  1,925,587
Ore processed - Underground t 309,504  179,186  1,075,218  691,255
Ore processed - Total t 401,715  656,014  1,600,884  2,616,842
Grade processed - Main Pit g/t 0.66  1.38  0.76  1.27
Grade processed - Underground g/t 3.80  4.04  4.18  3.03
Recovery % 95.4  94.4  95.7  94.6
Gold produced - Main Pit oz 1,851  21,149  12,436  75,736
Gold produced - Underground oz 35,711  20,852  137,261  61,498
Gold produced - Total oz 37,562  42,001  149,697  137,234
Gold sold - Main Pit oz 1,460  20,775  12,307  75,644
Gold sold - Underground oz 35,711  20,852  137,261  61,498
Gold sold - Total oz 37,171  41,627  149,568  137,142

         

Cost of sales per ounce 1 $/oz 836  1,096  898  1,153
Cash operating cost per ounce 1 $/oz 614  775  629  880

1 See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for a reconciliation of cost of sales per ounce and cash operating cost per ounce to cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization.
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For the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017

Production

Gold production from Wassa was 37,562 ounces for the fourth quarter of 2018, an 11% decrease from the 42,001 ounces produced during the same period in 2017.
This decrease in production was primarily due to Wassa becoming an underground-only mining operation as of February 1, 2018. Wassa Main Pit gold production
decreased 91% in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the same period of 2017, with 92,211 tonnes of stockpiled open pit ore being processed throughout the
quarter.  Partially  offsetting  this  decrease  was a  71% increase  in  Wassa  Underground gold production  in  the  fourth  quarter,  resulting  from increased ore  tonnes
mined compared to the same period in 2017.

Wassa Underground

Wassa Underground produced 35,711 ounces of gold (or approximately 95% of Wassa's total production) in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 20,852 ounces
in the same period in 2017 (or approximately 50% of Wassa's total production). This 71% increase in production related to an 80% increase in ore tonnes mined,
resulting from productivity improvements, offset partially by a 6% decrease in grade. Mining rates at Wassa Underground increased to approximately 3,400 tpd on
average in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to approximately 1,900 tpd in the same period in 2017. Underground ore processed increased 73% to 309,504 in
the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to 179,186 tonnes in the same period in 2017.

Wassa Main Pit

Wassa Main Pit produced 1,851 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 21,149 ounces in the same period in 2017. This decrease in production is a result
of the planned transition into an underground-only mining operation. Mining ceased from the Wassa Main Pit in January 2018 as planned, however, stockpiled ore
continued to be fed to the processing plant during the fourth quarter of 2018.

Gold revenue

Gold revenue for the fourth quarter of 2018 was $44.1 million , a decrease of 15% from $51.6 million in the same period in 2017 due mainly to a decrease in gold
sold. Gold sold decreased 11% to 37,171 ounces for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 41,627 ounces in the same period in 2017. The decrease was a result
of  Wassa  becoming  an  underground-only  mining  operation  as  of  February  1,  2018.  The  average  realized  gold  price  decreased  4% to  $1,187 per  ounce  for  the
fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $1,240 per ounce in the same period in 2017.

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization was $25.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $40.2 million for the same period in 2017. The
decrease was due primarily to a $9.0 million or 29% decrease in mine operating expenses resulting from the suspension of open pit mining and related costs, as
Wassa  has  fully  transitioned  into  an  underground-only  mining  operation.  In  addition,  severance  charges  related  to  the  suspension  of  the  Wassa  surface  mining
operation decreased $5.2 million or 100%, as this was completed in early 2018.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $5.6 million for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $5.4 million for the same period in 2017 due mainly to
an increase in mining interests.

Costs per ounce

Cost of sales per ounce decreased 24% to $836 for the fourth quarter of 2018 from $1,096 in the same period in 2017. Cash operating cost per ounce decreased
21% to $614 from $775 for  the  same  period  in  2017. The  lower  costs  per  ounce  in  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  as  compared  to  the  same  period  in  2017  were
primarily a result of a decrease in mine operating expenses.

Capital expenditures

Capital  expenditures  for  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018  totaled $13.9  million compared  with $8.5  million during  the  same  period  in  2017.  The  increase  in  capital
expenditures  was  due  primarily  to  an  increase  of  $3.5  million  in  exploration  drilling  and  $1.9  million  in  Wassa  Underground  capitalized  development,  mobile
equipment and underground heavy equipment costs to facilitate increased mining rates during the period.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017

Production

Gold production from Wassa was 149,697 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018, a 9% increase from the 137,234 ounces produced in 2017. This increase
in production was primarily due to increased production at Wassa Underground, as its grade, recovery and tonnes mined improved. As of February 1, 2018, Wassa
became an underground-only mining operation, however, open pit stock piled ore continued to be processed throughout the year.

Wassa Underground

Wassa Underground produced 137,261 ounces of gold (or approximately 92% of Wassa's total production) for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to
61,498 ounces in 2017 (or approximately 45% of Wassa's total production). This 123% increase in production was related to increased grade, recovery and tonnes
mined, resulting from productivity improvements. The underground ore grade processed increased by 38% to 4.18 g/t Au for the year ended December 31, 2018
compared  to  2017  as  mining  was  focused  solely  on  the  B-Shoot  zone  where  larger  stopes  and  higher  grade  areas  were  accessed.  Mining  rates  at  Wassa
Underground also  increased  to  approximately  3,000 tpd  on average  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018 compared  to  approximately  1,900 tpd  in  2017.  Ore
processed increased 56% for the year ended December 31, 2018 to 1,075,218 tonnes compared to the same period in 2017.

Wassa Main Pit

Wassa Main Pit produced 12,436 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 75,736 in the same period in 2017. This decrease in production is a
result of the planned transition into an underground-only mining operation, as surface mining operations reached the bottom of the Cut 2 pushback. Mining ceased
from the Wassa Main Pit in January 2018 as planned, however, stockpiled ore continued to be processed during the remainder of 2018.

Gold revenue

Gold revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $183.1 million , an increase of 9% from $167.4 million in 2017 due mainly to an increase in gold sold.
Gold sold increased 9% to 149,568 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 137,142 ounces in 2017. The increase was primarily a result  of
increased gold production from Wassa Underground. The average realized gold price remained consistent at $1,224 per ounce for the year ended December 31,
2018 compared to $1,220 per ounce in 2017.

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization was $112.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $138.1 million in 2017. The decrease
was due primarily to a 25% decrease in mine operating expenses resulting from the suspension of open pit mining and related costs, as Wassa transitioned into an
underground-only  mining  operation  at  the  end  of  January  2018.  This  decrease  was  partially  offset  by  increased  royalty  expense  due  to  higher  gold  sales,  an
increase in inventory costs and an increase in inventory net realizable adjustment and write-offs.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation  and amortization  expense  increased to $22.1 million for  the  year  ended December  31,  2018 compared to $20.1 million in 2017 due mainly to an
increase in gold production and mining interests.

Costs per ounce

Cost of sales per ounce decreased 22% to $898 for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $1,153 in 2017. Cash operating cost per ounce decreased 29%
to $629 for the year ended December 31, 2018 from $880 in 2017. The lower costs per ounce for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to 2017 was
primarily a result of a decrease in mine operating expenses and an increase in gold sold related to increased production from Wassa Underground.

Capital expenditures

Capital  expenditures  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018  totaled $35.4  million compared  to $21.6  million during  the  same  period  in  2017.  The  increase  in
capital  expenditures  is  due  primarily  to  an  increase  of  $6.8  million  in  Wassa  Underground capitalized  development  and  $2.8  million  in  mobile  equipment  and
underground heavy equipment costs related to facilitating increased mining rates during the period.  In addition, an increase of $4.6 million in exploration costs
were incurred in the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 2017 related to phase one deep drilling at Wassa Underground, intended to further assess the B-
Shoot and F-Shoot down plunge extensions.  These increases were offset  by a $0.4 million decrease in tailings facility  and other replacement  equipment capital
expenditures.
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PRESTEA OPERATIONS
Through a 90% owned subsidiary, Golden Star (Bogoso/Prestea) Limited, the Company owns and operates the Prestea Complex located near the town of Prestea,
Ghana.  The  Prestea  complex  consists  of  Prestea  Underground  (an  underground  operation),  the  Prestea  Open  Pits  (neighboring  open  pits  formed  from  oxide
deposits)  and  associated  support  facilities.  Prestea  has  a  CIL  processing  facility  with  capacity  of  up  to  1.5  million  tonnes  per  annum,  located  14  km  away  at
Bogoso,  which  is  suitable  for  treating  non-refractory  gold  ore  (the  “non-refractory  plant”).  Ore  from  both  Prestea  Underground  and  the  Prestea  Open  Pits  is
processed in the non-refractory plant. Prestea Underground achieved commercial production on February 1, 2018.

  
For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended  

 December 31,

  2018  2017  2018  2017

PRESTEA FINANCIAL RESULTS         
Revenue $'000 13,230  30,217  89,939  148,121

         

Mine operating expenses $'000 20,982  21,952  89,112  81,753
Severance charges $'000 9,882  2,833  9,888  2,916
Royalties $'000 693  1,938  4,794  8,643
Operating costs (to)/from metals inventory $'000 (11)  (486)  5,702  (4,913)
Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off $'000 521  —  1,971  —
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $'000 32,067  26,237  111,467  88,399
Depreciation and amortization $'000 2,231  1,655  11,873  11,740
Mine operating (loss)/margin $'000 (21,068)  2,325  (33,401)  47,982

         

       Capital expenditures $'000 1,382  8,281  11,414  48,055
         

PRESTEA OPERATING RESULTS         
Ore mined - Open pits t 32,275  300,247  374,218  1,462,607
Ore mined - Underground t 29,654  19,458  128,048  31,740
Ore mined - Total t 61,929  319,705  502,266  1,494,347
Waste mined - Open pits t 89,638  912,509  921,054  3,496,148
Waste mined - Underground t 3,008  6,254  7,403  26,303
Waste mined - Total t 92,646  918,763  928,457  3,522,451
Ore processed - Open pits t 185,014  442,333  1,179,414  1,587,482
Ore processed - Underground t 24,168  22,846  122,562  45,497
Ore processed - Total t 209,182  465,179  1,301,976  1,632,979
Grade processed - Open pits g/t 1.01  2.39  1.20  2.85
Grade processed - Underground g/t 8.56  8.41  10.12  6.96
Recovery % 84.9  82.6  86.8  86.4
Gold produced - Open pits oz 4,632  24,723  37,623  121,757
Gold produced - Underground oz 6,652  5,045  37,464  8,574
Gold produced - Total oz 11,284  29,768  75,087  130,331
Gold sold - Open pits oz 4,578  24,536  37,947  121,619
Gold sold - Underground oz 6,652  5,045  37,464  8,574
Gold sold - Total oz 11,230  29,581  75,411  130,193

         

Cost of sales per ounce 1 $/oz 3,054  1,137  1,681  823
Cash operating cost per ounce 1 $/oz 1,867  875  1,292  632

1 See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for a reconciliation of cost of sales per ounce and cash operating cost per ounce to cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization.
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For the three months ended December 31, 2018 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2017

Production

Gold production from Prestea was 11,284 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018, a 62% decrease from the 29,768 ounces produced during the same period in 2017.
This decrease in production was due primarily to the planned reduction from the Prestea Open Pits and a slower than expected ramp up at Prestea Underground.

Prestea Open Pits

The Prestea Open Pits produced 4,632 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 24,723 ounces in the same period in 2017. This decrease in production
was planned, as the Prestea Open Pits were expected to complete gold production at the end of 2017. Mining has continued into the fourth quarter of 2018 with
additional ore being sourced from the pits close to Prestea.

Prestea Underground

Prestea Underground declared commercial production on February 1, 2018 and produced 6,652 ounces in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to 5,045 ounces in
the same period in 2017. Grade, recovery and production improved in the fourth quarter of 2018 compared to the same period in 2017. In the fourth quarter of
2018, the Company concluded the business right-sizing of Prestea Underground's  operations by reducing the workforce and establishing a lower operating cost
base. In addition, the processing plant was converted to a low tonnage, high grade configuration allowing it to efficiently treat underground ore production. At the
end  of  2018,  improvements  were  being  recorded  in  Prestea's  lead  production  indicators.  Improvements  in  raise  development,  longhole  drilling  and  blasting
productivities are expected to continue to bring the production rate up to the 650 tpd target in 2019.

Gold revenue

Gold revenue for the fourth quarter of 2018 was $13.2 million , a decrease of 56% from $30.2 million in the same period of 2017 due mainly to a decrease in gold
sales and average realized gold price. Gold sold decreased 62% to 11,230 ounces for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to 29,581 ounces in the same period of
2017.  The  decrease  was  primarily  a  result  of  a  decrease  in  gold  production  from  the  Prestea  Open  Pits  and  the  slower  than  expected  ramp  up  at  Prestea
Underground. The average realized gold price decreased 4% to $1,178 per ounce for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $1,232 per ounce for the same period
in 2017.

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization was $32.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $26.2 million for the same period in 2017. The
increase was due primarily to a $7.0 million increase in severance charges related to the Prestea improvement plan implemented during the quarter, which included
right-sizing the workforce at  Prestea and optimizing the management and supervisory structure.  This increase was offset  partially  by a $1.2 million decrease in
royalties resulting from lower gold sales in the period and lower mine operating expenses related to less production from the Prestea Open Pits.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $2.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2018, compared to $1.7 million for the same period in 2017 due mainly to
the commencement of depreciation of Prestea Underground assets as commercial production was achieved on February 1, 2018, offset partially by a decrease in
gold production.

Costs per ounce

Cost of sales per ounce increased 169% to $3,054 for the fourth quarter of 2018 from $1,137 in the same period in 2017. Cash operating cost per ounce increased
113% to $1,867 from $875 for the same period in 2017. The increase in costs per ounce was primarily due to the decrease in gold sold in the quarter.

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures for the fourth quarter of 2018 totaled $1.4 million compared to $8.3 million incurred during the same period in 2017. The decrease relates
primarily to a $4.7 million decrease in development expenditures and $1.5 million decrease in capitalized borrowing costs relating to Prestea Underground which
achieved commercial production on February 1, 2018. In addition, there was a $0.7 million decrease in capital expenditures related to the Prestea Open Pits and
Mampon, as some of these deposits ceased production by the end of 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017

Production

Gold production from Prestea was 75,087 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018, a 42% decrease from the 130,331 ounces produced in 2017. This decrease
in production was due primarily to the planned reduction from the Prestea Open Pits and the slower than expected ramp up at Prestea Underground.
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Prestea Open Pits

The Prestea  Open Pits  produced 37,623 ounces  for  the  year  ended December  31,  2018,  compared to 121,757 ounces in  2017.  This  decrease  in  production was
planned, as the Prestea Open Pits were expected to complete gold production at the end of 2017. Mining continued into the fourth quarter of 2018 with additional
ore being sourced from the pits close to Prestea and is expected to continue into the first quarter of 2019.

Prestea Underground

Prestea Underground declared commercial production on February 1, 2018 and produced 37,464 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 8,574
ounces in 2017. Grade, recovery and production improved in 2018 compared to 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company concluded the business right-
sizing of Prestea Underground's operations by reducing the workforce and establishing a lower operating cost base. In addition, the processing plant was converted
to a low tonnage, high grade configuration allowing it to efficiently treat underground ore production. At the end of 2018, improvements were being recorded in
Prestea's  lead  production  indicators.  Improvements  in  raise  development,  longhole  drilling  and  blasting  productivities  are  expected  to  continue  to  bring  the
production rate up to the 650 tpd target in 2019.

Gold revenue

Gold revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $89.9 million , a decrease of 39% from $148.1 million in 2017 due mainly to a decrease in gold sold.
Gold sold decreased 42% to 75,411 ounces for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 130,193 ounces in 2017. The decrease was primarily a result of a
decrease in gold production from the Prestea Open Pits and the slower than expected ramp up at Prestea Underground. The average realized gold price remained
consistent at $1,226 per ounce for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $1,218 per ounce in 2017.

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization was $111.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $88.4 million in 2017. The increase
was due primarily to a $10.6 million increase in inventory costs, as ore stockpiles were processed during the period related to the slower than expected Prestea
Underground ramp up and the planned reduction from the Prestea Open Pits. Additionally, there was a $7.4 million or 9% increase in mine operating expenses due
primarily to the addition of Prestea Underground mining costs that were capitalized in the same period in 2017. There was also a $7.0 million increase in severance
charges  related  to  the  Prestea  improvement  plan  implemented  during  the  fourth  quarter  of  2018,  which  included  right-sizing  the  workforce  at  Prestea  and
optimizing the management and supervisory structure. Offsetting these increases was a $3.8 million or 44% decrease in royalties due to lower gold sales in the year
ended December 31, 2018.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased to $11.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $11.7 million in 2017 due mainly to the
commencement of depreciation of Prestea Underground assets as commercial production was achieved on February 1, 2018.

Costs per ounce

Cost of sales per ounce increased 104% to $1,681 for  the year  ended December  31,  2018,  compared to $823 in 2017. Cash operating cost  per ounce increased
104% to $1,292 for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $632 in 2017. The increase in cost of sales per ounce and cash operating cost per ounce was
primarily due to the increase in inventory costs and mine operating expenses in the period, as well as the decrease in ounces sold for the year ended December 31,
2018 compared to 2017.

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2018 totaled $11.4 million , compared to $48.1 million incurred in 2017. The decrease relates primarily to a
$27.7 million decrease in development expenditures and a $4.7 million decrease in capitalized borrowing costs relating to Prestea Underground which achieved
commercial production on February 1, 2018. In addition, there was a $4.6 million decrease in capital expenditure related to the Prestea Open Pits and Mampon, as
some of these deposits ceased production by the end of 2017. Partially offsetting these decreases was a $0.3 million increase in exploration drilling expenditures,
which has the objective of extending the West Reef and the Main Reef ore bodies.
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SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS

  Three Months Ended,
(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except per share data) Q4 2018 Q3 2018 2 Q2 2018 2 Q1 2018 2 Q4 2017 2 Q3 2017 2 Q2 2017 2 Q1 2017 2

Revenues $ 57,339 $ 67,738 $ 77,121 $ 70,819 $ 81,845 $ 87,772 $ 77,335 $ 68,545
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization 57,565 48,873 57,717 59,574 66,401 53,502 55,173 51,406
Net (loss)/income (11,894) (4,222) (7,560) (395) 13,825 13,703 13,681 (250)
Net (loss)/income attributable to shareholders of Golden Star (9,318) (3,178) (6,642) 1,015 12,601 12,117 13,883 170
Adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders 1 (5,211) 3,011 2,408 (2,124) 10,701 19,827 7,703 3,411
Net (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders -
basic (0.09) (0.04) (0.09) 0.01 0.17 0.16 0.18 0.00
Net (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders -
diluted (0.09) (0.04) (0.09) (0.03) 0.16 0.16 0.11 0.00
Adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star
shareholders - basic 1 (0.05) 0.04 0.03 (0.03) 0.14 0.26 0.09 0.05

1 See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for a reconciliation of adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders and adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to
Golden Star shareholders to net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders.
2 Per share quarterly financial information has been re-stated to reflect the share consolidation that was implemented on October 30, 2018.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
The Company held $96.5 million in cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2018 compared to $27.8 million in cash and cash equivalents at December 31,
2017.  During the year  ended December  31,  2018,  operations  used $7.6 million,  investing activities  used $48.0 million and financing activities  provided $124.2
million of cash.

Before working capital  changes,  operations provided $9.6 million of  operating cash flow for  the year  ended December  31,  2018,  compared to  $62.6 million in
2017.  Cash provided by operations  before  working capital  changes  decreased  primarily  due  to  a  decrease  in  consolidated  mine  operating  margin  related  to  the
underperformance  of  Prestea,  as  well  as  a  $10.0  million  decrease  in  advance  payments  from RGLD as  the  full  $145.0  million  in  advance  payments  under  the
Streaming Agreement were received by January 2017.

Working capital used $17.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to $7.4 million in 2017. The working capital changes included a $25.8
million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and a $0.7 million increase in prepaids and other, offset by a $9.2 million decrease in inventory and a
$0.2  million  decrease  in  accounts  receivable.  Accounts  payable  and  accrued  liabilities  reduced  from  $94.6  million  at  December  31,  2017  to  $78.5  million  at
December 31, 2018.

Investing activities used $48.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2018, which included $19.8 million on the development of Wassa Underground, $7.7
million on the development of Prestea Underground, $10.3 million on exploration drilling and $8.4 million on equipment purchases and other.

Financing  activities  provided  $124.2  million  during  the  year  ended  December  31,  2018,  compared  to  $18.7  million  in  2017.  Financing  activities  included  net
proceeds of $124.8 million from the private placement of common shares to La Mancha, gross proceeds of $15.0 million from Ecobank Loan III, $20.0 million
from Ecobank Loan IV which was used to repay the $20.0 million Royal Gold loan, and $15.6 million in principal debt repayments.

LIQUIDITY OUTLOOK
As at December 31, 2018, the Company had $96.5 million in cash and working capital of $5.9 million, compared to $27.8 million in cash and a working capital
deficit of $61.6 million at December 31, 2017. The Company has completed the development of Wassa Underground and Prestea Underground and the Company
now expects to generate operating margin from its operations. The ramp-up at Prestea Underground to 650 tpd will continue in 2019, during which period a lower
operating margin is expected.

The Company expects  to  incur  $61.7  million  on capital  expenditures  during  2019 of  which $22.0  million  is  discretionary.  The Company's  debt  repayment  and
servicing  obligations  are  expected  to  approximate  $36.4  million  for  2019.  In  addition,  the  Company  expects  to  incur  $6.4  million  for  the  settlement  of  vested
performance  share  units  in  2019.  The  majority  of  the  severance  payments  related  to  the  suspension  of  the  Wassa  and  Prestea  surface  mining  operations  were
completed by December 31, 2018.
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Based on the Company's cash balance together with the operating cash flow that the Company anticipates generating, the Company expects to have sufficient cash
available to support its operations and mandatory expenditures for the next twelve months.

TABLE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As at December 31, 2018, the Company is committed to the following:

  Payment due by period 

 (Stated in thousands of U.S dollars)  
Less than 1 

Year  1 to 3 years  4 to 5 years   
More than 

5 Years  Total 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 78,484  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 78,484

Debt 1  28,213  71,140  9,611  —  108,964
Other liability  6,410  —  —  —  6,410
Interest on long-term debt  8,155  11,136  623  —  19,914
Purchase obligations  13,762  —  —  —  13,762

Rehabilitation provisions 2  7,455  25,566  24,707  13,678  71,406

Total  $ 142,479  $ 107,842  $ 34,941  $ 13,678  $ 298,940

1

 
Includes  the  outstanding  repayment  amounts  from  the  7%  Convertible  Debentures  maturing  on  August  15,  2021,  Ecobank  Loan  III,  Ecobank  Loan  IV,  finance  leases  and  the  vendor

agreement.
2  Rehabilitation provisions indicates the expected undiscounted cash flows for each period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
There were no material related party transactions for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 other than compensation of key management personnel which is
presented in Note 21 of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. Key management personnel are defined as members
of the Board of Directors and certain senior officers.  Compensation of key management personnel are made on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm's
length transaction.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has no material off-balance sheet arrangements.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES
In this MD&A, we use the terms “cash operating cost”, “cash operating cost per ounce”, “all-in sustaining costs”, “all-in sustaining costs per ounce”, “adjusted net
(loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders”, “adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders”, “cash provided by operations
before working capital changes”, and “cash provided by operations before working capital changes per share - basic”.

“Cost  of  sales  excluding  depreciation  and  amortization”  as  found  in  the  statements  of  operations  includes  all  mine-site  operating  costs,  including  the  costs  of
mining,  ore  processing,  maintenance,  work-in-process  inventory  changes,  mine-site  overhead  as  well  as  production  taxes,  royalties,  severance  charges  and  by-
product  credits,  but  excludes  exploration costs,  property holding costs,  corporate  office  general  and administrative  expenses,  foreign currency gains  and losses,
gains and losses on asset sales, interest expense, gains and losses on derivatives, gains and losses on investments and income tax expense/benefit.

“Cost of sales per ounce” is equal to cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization for the period plus depreciation and amortization for the period divided
by the number of ounces of gold sold (excluding pre-commercial production ounces sold) during the period.

“Cash operating cost” for a period is equal to “cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization” for the period less royalties, the cash component of metals
inventory net realizable value adjustments, materials and supplies write-off and severance charges, and "cash operating cost per ounce" is that amount divided by
the number of ounces of gold sold (excluding pre-commercial production ounces sold) during the period. We use cash operating cost per ounce as a key operating
metric.  We  monitor  this  measure  monthly,  comparing  each  month's  values  to  prior  periods'  values  to  detect  trends  that  may  indicate  increases  or  decreases  in
operating  efficiencies.  We  provide  this  measure  to  investors  to  allow them to  also  monitor  operational  efficiencies  of  the  Company's  mines.  We calculate  this
measure for both individual operating units and on a consolidated basis. Since cash operating costs do not incorporate revenues, changes in working capital or non-
operating cash costs, they are not necessarily indicative of operating
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profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Changes in numerous factors including, but not limited to, mining rates, milling rates, ore grade,
gold recovery, costs of labor, consumables and mine site general and administrative activities can cause these measures to increase or decrease. We believe that
these measures are similar to the measures of other gold mining companies, but may not be comparable to similarly titled measures in every instance.

“All-in sustaining costs” commences with cash operating costs and then adds the cash component of metals inventory net realizable value adjustments, royalties,
sustaining  capital  expenditures,  corporate  general  and  administrative  costs  (excluding  share-based  compensation  expenses),  and  accretion  of  rehabilitation
provision.  "All-in sustaining costs  per ounce" is  that  amount divided by the number of ounces of gold sold (excluding pre-commercial  production ounces sold)
during the period. This measure seeks to represent the total costs of producing gold from current operations, and therefore it does not include capital expenditures
attributable  to  projects  or  mine  expansions,  exploration  and  evaluation  costs  attributable  to  growth  projects,  income  tax  payments,  interest  costs  or  dividend
payments. Consequently, this measure is not representative of all of the Company's cash expenditures. In addition, the calculation of all-in sustaining costs does not
include depreciation expense as  it  does not  reflect  the impact  of  expenditures  incurred in prior  periods.  Therefore,  it  is  not  indicative  of  the Company's  overall
profitability. Share-based compensation expenses are also excluded from the calculation of all-in sustaining costs as the Company believes that such expenses may
not be representative of the actual payout on equity and liability based awards.

The Company believes that “all-in sustaining costs” will better meet the needs of analysts, investors and other stakeholders of the Company in understanding the
costs associated with producing gold, understanding the economics of gold mining, assessing the operating performance and the Company's ability to generate free
cash flow from current  operations and to generate free cash flow on an overall  Company basis.  Due to the capital  intensive nature of the industry and the long
useful lives over which these items are depreciated, there can be a disconnect between net earnings calculated in accordance with IFRS and the amount of free cash
flow that is being generated by a mine. In the current market environment for gold mining equities, many investors and analysts are more focused on the ability of
gold mining companies to generate free cash flow from current operations, and consequently the Company believes these measures are useful non-IFRS operating
metrics ("non-GAAP measures") and supplement the IFRS disclosures made by the Company. These measures are not representative of all of Golden Star's cash
expenditures as they do not include income tax payments or interest costs. Non-GAAP measures are intended to provide additional information only and do not
have standardized definitions under IFRS and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with
IFRS. These measures are not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. The table below reconciles these
non-GAAP measures to the most  directly  comparable  IFRS measures  and,  where applicable,  previous periods have been recalculated  to conform to the current
definition.
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The table below reconciles consolidated cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization to cost of sales per ounce, cash operating cost per ounce and all-in
sustaining cost per ounce:

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except cost per ounce data)
For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended  

 December 31,

 2018  2017  2018  2017

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 57,565  $ 66,401  $ 223,729  $ 226,482
Depreciation and amortization 7,824  7,095  33,939  31,792

Cost of sales $ 65,389  $ 73,496  $ 257,668  $ 258,274

        

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 57,565  $ 66,401  $ 223,729  $ 226,482
     Severance charges (9,882)  (8,050)  (14,858)  (9,232)
     Royalties (3,009)  (4,620)  (14,302)  (17,295)
     Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off (870)  —  (5,655)  (2,410)
Cash operating costs $ 43,804  $ 53,731  $ 188,914  $ 197,545
     Royalties 3,009  4,620  14,302  17,295

Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off 870  —  5,655  2,410
     Accretion of rehabilitation provision 173  312  691  1,245
     General and administrative costs, excluding share-based compensation 3,712  2,828  15,150  12,536
     Sustaining capital expenditures 7,397  4,781  22,159  13,199

All-in sustaining costs $ 58,965  $ 66,272  $ 246,871  $ 244,230

        

Ounces sold 1 48,401  66,163  222,930  258,761
        

Cost of sales per ounce $ 1,351  $ 1,111  $ 1,156  $ 998
Cash operating cost per ounce $ 905  $ 812  $ 847  $ 763
All-in sustaining cost per ounce $ 1,218  $ 1,002  $ 1,107  $ 944

1 Ounces sold used in the calculation of cost of sales per ounce, cash operating cost per ounce and all-in sustaining cost per ounce excludes 2,049 and 8,574 pre-commercial production ounces
sold at Prestea Underground during 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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The tables below reconcile cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization to cash operating cost per ounce for each of the operating mines:

 
For the Three Months Ended  

 December 31, 2018

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except cost per ounce data) Wassa  Prestea  Combined

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 25,498  $ 32,067  $ 57,565
Depreciation and amortization 5,593  2,231  7,824

Cost of sales $ 31,091  $ 34,298  $ 65,389

      

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 25,498  $ 32,067  $ 57,565
     Severance charges —  (9,882)  (9,882)
     Royalties (2,316)  (693)  (3,009)

Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off (349)  (521)  (870)

Cash operating costs $ 22,833  $ 20,971  $ 43,804

      

Ounces sold 37,171  11,230  48,401
      

Cost of sales per ounce $ 836  $ 3,054  $ 1,351
Cash operating cost per ounce $ 614  $ 1,867  $ 905

 
For the Year Ended  
 December 31, 2018

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except cost per ounce data) Wassa  Prestea  Combined

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 112,262  $ 111,467  $ 223,729
Depreciation and amortization 22,066  11,873  33,939

Cost of sales $ 134,328  $ 123,340  $ 257,668

      

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 112,262  $ 111,467  $ 223,729
     Severance charges (4,970)  (9,888)  (14,858)
     Royalties (9,508)  (4,794)  (14,302)

Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off (3,684)  (1,971)  (5,655)

Cash operating costs $ 94,100  $ 94,814  $ 188,914

      

Ounces sold 1 149,568  73,362  222,930
      

Cost of sales per ounce $ 898  $ 1,681  $ 1,156
Cash operating cost per ounce $ 629  $ 1,292  $ 847

1 Ounces sold used in the calculation of cost of sales per ounce and cash operating cost per ounce excludes 2,049 pre-commercial production ounces sold at Prestea Underground in January
2018.
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For the Three Months Ended  

 December 31, 2017

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except cost per ounce data) Wassa  Prestea  Combined

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 40,164  $ 26,237  $ 66,401
Depreciation and amortization 5,440  1,655  7,095

Cost of sales $ 45,604  $ 27,892  $ 73,496

      

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 40,164  $ 26,237  $ 66,401
     Severance charges (5,217)  (2,833)  (8,050)
     Royalties (2,682)  (1,938)  (4,620)
     Metals inventory net realizable value adjustment —  —  —

Cash operating costs $ 32,265  $ 21,466  $ 53,731

      

Ounces sold 1 41,627  24,536  66,163
      

Cost of sales per ounce $ 1,096  $ 1,137  $ 1,111
Cash operating cost per ounce $ 775  $ 875  $ 812

 
For the Year Ended  
December 31, 2017

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except cost per ounce data) Wassa  Prestea  Combined

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 138,083  $ 88,399  $ 226,482
Depreciation and amortization 20,052  11,740  31,792

Cost of sales $ 158,135  $ 100,139  $ 258,274

      

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization $ 138,083  $ 88,399  $ 226,482
     Severance charges (6,316)  (2,916)  (9,232)
     Royalties (8,652)  (8,643)  (17,295)
     Metals inventory net realizable value adjustment (2,410)  —  (2,410)

Cash operating costs $ 120,705  $ 76,840  $ 197,545

      

Ounces sold 1 137,142  121,619  258,761
      

Cost of sales per ounce $ 1,153  $ 823  $ 998
Cash operating cost per ounce $ 880  $ 632  $ 763

1 Ounces sold used in the calculation of cost of sales per ounce and cash operating cost per ounce excludes pre-commercial production ounces sold at Prestea Underground during the period.

“Cash provided by operations before working capital changes” is calculated by subtracting the “changes in working capital” from “net cash provided by operating
activities”  as  found  in  the  statements  of  cash  flows.  “Cash  provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  per  share  -  basic”  is  “Cash  provided  by
operations before working capital changes” divided by the basic weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period.

We  use  cash  operating  cost  per  ounce  and  cash  provided  by  operations  before  working  capital  changes  as  key  operating  metrics.  We  monitor  these  measures
monthly,  comparing each month's values to the values in prior periods to detect  trends that  may indicate increases or decreases in operating efficiencies.  These
measures are also compared against budget to alert management of trends that may cause actual results to deviate from planned operational results. We provide
these measures to investors to allow them to also monitor operational efficiencies of the mines owned by the Company.

Cash operating cost per ounce and cash provided by operations before working capital changes should be considered non-GAAP financial measures as defined in
Canadian securities laws and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. There are
material limitations associated with the use of such non-GAAP
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measures.  Since  these  measures  do  not  incorporate  revenues,  changes  in  working  capital  or  non-operating  cash  costs,  they  are  not  necessarily  indicative  of
operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Changes in numerous factors including, but not limited to, mining rates, milling rates, ore
grade, gold recovery, costs of labor, consumables and mine site general and administrative activities can cause these measures to increase or decrease. We believe
that these measures are similar to the measures of other gold mining companies, but may not be comparable to similarly titled measures in every instance.

Adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders

The  table  below  shows  the  reconciliation  of  net  (loss)/income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  to  adjusted  net  income  attributable  to  Golden  Star
shareholders and adjusted income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders:

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars except per share data)
For the Three Months Ended

December 31,  
For the Years Ended  

 December 31,

 2018  2017¹  2018  2017¹

Net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders $ (9,318)  $ 12,601  $ (18,123)  $ 38,771
Add back/(deduct):        
Share-based compensation (recovery)/expense (1,468)  5,053  1,278  12,554
Loss/(gain) on fair value of financial instruments (3,274)  1,902  (6,786)  (2,057)
Loss on conversion of 7% Convertible Debentures —  —  —  165
Severance charges 9,882  8,050  14,858  9,232
Gain on reduction of asset retirement obligations (1,575)  (4,945)  (3,080)  (4,945)
Income tax expense (recovery) on previously unrecognized deferred tax asset 1,525  (12,944)  12,350  (12,944)
 (4,228)  9,717  497  40,776
Adjustments attributable to non-controlling interest (983)  984  (2,413)  866

Adjusted net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders $ (5,211)  $ 10,701  $ (1,916)  $ 41,642

        

Adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders - basic $ (0.05)  $ 0.14  $ (0.02)  $ 0.56
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic (millions) 108.5  76.1  84.3  74.7

1 Weighted average shares outstanding- basic has been re-stated to reflect the share consolidation that was implemented on October 30, 2018.

The  Company  uses  “Adjusted  net  (loss)/income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders”  for  its  own  internal  purposes.  Management’s  internal  budgets  and
forecasts  and  public  guidance  do  not  reflect  the  items  which  have  been  excluded  from  the  determination  of  adjusted  net  income  attributable  to  Golden  Star
shareholders.  Consequently,  the  presentation  of  adjusted  net  income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  enables  shareholders  to  better  understand  the
underlying operating performance of our core mining business through the eyes of management. Management periodically evaluates the components of adjusted
net earnings based on an internal assessment of performance measures that are useful for evaluating the operating performance of our business and a review of
non-GAAP measures used by mining industry analysts and other mining companies.

“Adjusted  net  (loss)/  income attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders”  is  calculated  by  adjusting  net  (loss)/income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  for
share-based  compensation  expenses,  gain  on  fair  value  of  financial  instruments,  loss  on  conversion  of  7% Convertible  Debentures,  severance  charges,  gain  on
reduction of asset retirement obligations and income tax expense on previously unrecognized deferred tax assets. “Adjusted (loss)/income per share attributable to
Golden  Star  shareholders”  for  the  period  is  “Adjusted  net  (loss)/income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders”  divided  by  the  weighted  average  number  of
shares outstanding using the basic method of earnings per share.

Adjusted  net  (loss)/income  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  and  adjusted  (loss)/income  per  share  attributable  to  Golden  Star  shareholders  should  be
considered non-GAAP financial measures as defined in the Canadian securities laws and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of
performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. There are material limitations associated with the use of such non-GAAP measures. Since these measures do not
incorporate all non-cash expense and income items, changes in working capital and non-operating cash costs, they are not necessarily indicative of operating profit
or cash flow from operations as determined under IFRS. Changes in numerous factors including, but not limited to, our share price, risk-free interest rates, gold
prices,  mining  rates,  milling  rates,  ore  grade,  gold  recovery,  costs  of  labor,  consumables  and  mine  site  general  and  administrative  activities  can  cause  these
measures  to  increase  or  decrease.  The  Company  believes  that  these  measures  are  similar  to  the  measures  of  other  gold  mining  companies,  but  may  not  be
comparable to similarly titled measures in every instance.
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OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
As of February 19, 2019, there were 108,819,009 common shares of the Company issued and outstanding, 3,498,143 stock options outstanding, 1,149,215 deferred
share units outstanding, 790,517 share units of 2017 PRSUs outstanding and 7% Convertible Debentures which are convertible into an aggregate of 11,444,000
common shares.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
On  July  28,  2015,  the  Company  through  its  subsidiary  Caystar  Finance  Co.  completed  a  $130.0  million  gold  purchase  and  sale  agreement  (“Streaming
Agreement”) with RGLD, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Royal Gold, Inc. The Streaming Agreement was subsequently amended on December 30, 2015 to provide
an additional $15.0 million of streaming advance payment. As discussed in Note 3 of the year ended December 31, 2018 audited consolidated financial statements
of  the  Company,  there  is  a  variable  component  involved  in  accounting  for  the  deferred  revenue  associated  with  the  Streaming  Agreement.  This  variability  is
subject to retroactive adjustment when there is a significant change in the timing and quantity of ounces to be delivered over the term of the Streaming Agreement.
Significant  judgment  is  required  in  determining  the  expected  delivery  of  ounces  over  the  term of  the  Streaming Agreement  and their  associated  cash flows.  In
undertaking this review, management of the Company is required to make significant estimates of, amongst other things, discount rates, future production volumes,
metal prices and reserve and resource quantities. These estimates are subject to various risks and uncertainties which may ultimately have an effect on the deferred
revenue recorded related to the Streaming Agreement. There were no retroactive adjustments recorded in the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2018,
with the exception of the initial adjustment to adopt IFRS 15 recorded in the first  quarter of 2018 as discussed in Note 3 of the year ended December 31, 2018
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company.

For a full list of judgments, estimates and assumptions please, refer to Note 4 of the 2018 annual financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The  Company  has  adopted  the  following  new  and  revised  standards,  effective  January  1,  2018.  These  changes  were  made  in  accordance  with  the  applicable
transitional provisions.

IFRS 2 Share-based payments was amended to address (i) certain issues related to the accounting for cash settled awards, and (ii) the accounting for equity settled
awards that include a "net settlement" feature in respect of employee withholding taxes effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. There was no
impact to the financial statements on adoption of this standard.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued in July 2014 and includes (i) a third measurement category for financial assets - fair value through other comprehensive
income; (ii) a single, forward-looking "expected loss" impairment model; and (iii) a mandatory effective date of annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2018.  On adoption of  this  standard,  there  was no accounting impact  to  the financial  statements  and there  were  no changes  in  the  carrying values  of  any of  the
Company's financial assets.

IFRS 15  Revenue  from Contracts  with  Customers  was  amended  to  clarify  how to  (i)  identify  a  performance  obligation  in  a  contract;  (ii)  determine  whether  a
company is a principal or an agent; and (iii) determine whether the revenue from granting a license should be recognized at a point in time or over time. In addition
to the clarifications, the amendments include two reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new standard. The amendments have
the same effective date as the standard, which is January 1, 2018.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. As a result, the Company updated its accounting
policy for deferred revenue to align with the requirements of IFRS 15. The Company elected to use the modified retroactive approach to initially adopt IFRS 15,
which resulted in recognizing the cumulative effect of prior period amounts as an adjustment to the opening balance sheet through opening deficit on January 1,
2018.

Under  IFRS  15,  deferred  revenue  consists  of:  1)  initial  cash  payments  received  by  the  Company  for  future  delivery  of  payable  gold  under  the  terms  of  the
Company’s Streaming Agreement as defined in Note 10, Deferred Revenue, and 2) a significant financing component of the Company’s Streaming Agreement.
Deferred revenue is increased as interest expense is recognized based on the implicit interest rate of the discounted cash flows arising from the expected delivery of
ounces under the Company’s Streaming Agreement.

The amount by which the deferred revenue balance is reduced and recognized into revenue is based on a rate per ounce of gold delivered under the stream. This
rate per ounce of gold delivered relating to the payments received by the Company is based on the remaining deferred revenue balance divided by the ounces that
are expected to be delivered over the term of the Streaming Agreement.

As the Company’s Streaming Agreement contains a variable component, IFRS 15 requires that the transaction price be updated and re-allocated on a continuous
basis.  As a  result,  the deferred revenue recognized per  ounce of gold delivered under  the Streaming Agreement  will  require  an adjustment  each time there is  a
significant change in the underlying gold production profile of a mine.
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Should a change in the transaction price be necessary, a retroactive adjustment to revenue will  be made in the period in which the change occurs, to reflect the
updated production profile expected to be delivered under the Streaming Agreement.

The impact of the initial adoption of IFRS 15 was $19.0 million. The adjustment was recorded as an increase to deferred revenue with a corresponding increase to
opening deficit.

IFRS 16  Leases  specifies  how an  IFRS reporter  will  recognize,  measure,  present  and  disclose  leases.  The  standard  provides  a  single  lessee  accounting  model,
requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue
to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16's approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17. IFRS 16 was issued
in January 2016 and applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company has completed an evaluation of the population of its
contracts  to  ensure  compliance  with  the  new  lease  standard.  The  assessment  has  identified  some  contracts  that  will  likely  be  capitalized  under  the  new  lease
standard however the Company does not expect there to be a material impact on the financial statements upon adoption of IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019.

The changes in accounting policies and standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective are disclosed in Note 3 of the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Stated in thousands of U.S dollars)
Fair value at

December 31, 2018 Basis of measurement Associated risks

Cash and cash equivalents $ 96,507 Amortized cost Interest/Credit/Foreign exchange
Accounts receivable 3,213 Amortized cost Foreign exchange/Credit

Trade and other payables 68,469 Amortized cost Foreign exchange/Interest
Finance leases 1,683 Amortized cost Interest

Ecobank Loan III 19,935 Amortized cost Interest
Ecobank Loan IV 17,700 Amortized cost Interest

7% Convertible Debentures 44,612 Amortized cost Interest
Vendor agreement 16,776 Amortized cost Interest/Foreign exchange

Long-term derivative liability 4,177 Fair value through profit and loss Market price

Amortized cost - Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, trade and other payables, the 7% Convertible Debentures, the Ecobank Loan III, the Ecobank
Loan IV, the vendor agreement and the finance leases approximate their carrying values as the interest rates are comparable to current market rates. Carrying value
of the vendor agreement has been discounted to reflect its fair value.

Fair value through profit or loss - The fair value of the long-term derivative liability relating to the 7% Convertible Debentures is estimated using a convertible
note valuation model. For the year ended December 31, 2018, a total gain of $6.8 million was recorded to the statement of operations.

DISCLOSURES ABOUT RISKS
The Company's exposure to significant risks include, but are not limited to, the following risks: change in interest rates on our debt, change in foreign currency
exchange rates, commodity price fluctuations, liquidity risk and credit risk. In recognition of the Company's outstanding accounts payable, the Company cannot
guarantee that vendors or suppliers will not suspend or deny delivery of products or services to the Company. For a complete discussion of the risks, refer to the
Company's Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2017 available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. Additional and/or updated risk
factors, if applicable, will be included in our annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2018, which will be filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management,  with the participation of its  President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial  Officer,  has
evaluated the effectiveness  of  the Company's  disclosure controls  and procedures.  Based upon the results  of  that  evaluation,  the Company's  President  and Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
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Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the
information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports it files is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the appropriate time periods and is
accumulated and communicated to management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company's  management,  with the participation of its  President  and Chief  Executive Officer  and Executive Vice President  and Chief  Financial  Officer,  are
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision of the President and Chief Executive Officer
and  Executive  Vice  President  and  Chief  Financial  Officer,  the  Company's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  is  a  process  designed  to  provide  reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. The Company's
internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonable detail, the transactions and dispositions of assets of the Company;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS and that
the Company's receipts and expenditures are made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the Company's directors; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets that could
have a material effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

The Company's  management,  including the  President  and Chief  Executive  Officer  and Executive  Vice  President  and Chief  Financial  Officer,  believes  that  any
disclosure  controls  and  procedures  or  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  no  matter  how  well  conceived  and  operated,  can  provide  only  reasonable,  not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints,
and  the  benefits  of  controls  must  be  considered  relative  to  their  costs.  Because  of  the  inherent  limitations  in  all  control  systems,  they  cannot  provide  absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities
that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by
the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized override of the control. The design of any control system also is based
in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under
all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.

The Company's management,  under the supervision of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control
- integrated framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013). Based on our assessment,  management has
concluded that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The  Company's  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,  2018  has  been  audited  by  PricewaterhouseCoopers  LLP  ( “ PwC ” )  Chartered
Professional  Accountants,  Licensed  Public  Accountants,  who  also  audited  the  Company's  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  for  the  year  ended  December  31,
2018. PwC, in its report that immediately precedes the Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Company's design of internal controls and procedures over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this MD&A.

RISK FACTORS AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The risk factors  for  the year  ended December 31,  2018 are substantially  the same as those disclosed and discussed under the headings “Risk Factors - General
Risks”, “Risk Factors - Governmental and Regulatory Risks” and “Risk Factors - Market Risks” in our annual information form for the year ended December 31,
2017. Additional and/or updated risk factors, if applicable, will be included in our annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2018, which will be
filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

28



Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017



MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  of  Golden  Star  Resources  Ltd.  (the  “Company”)  and  all  information  in  this  financial  report  are  the
responsibility  of  management.  The  consolidated  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  International  Financial  Reporting  Standards  and,
where appropriate, include management’s best estimates and judgments.

Management maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use, and that
financial information is timely and reliable. However, a ny system of internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed and implemented, has
inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect all misstatements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing
and approving the consolidated financial statements.

The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee. The Board of Directors appoints the Audit Committee, and all of its members are
independent directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the auditors to review internal controls, audit results, accounting principles
and related matters. The Board of Directors approves the consolidated financial statements on recommendation from the Audit Committee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers  LLP,  an  independent  firm  of  Chartered  Professional  Accountants,  was  appointed  by  the  shareholders  at  the  last  annual  meeting  to
examine the consolidated financial statements and provide an independent professional opinion. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has full and free access to the Audit
Committee.

"Samuel T. Coetzer"                          "André van Niekerk "
Samuel T. Coetzer                        André van Niekerk
President and Chief Executive Officer                Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Canada
February 19, 2019



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Golden Star Resources Ltd.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Golden Star Resources Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (together, the Company) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive (loss)/income, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the
years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial
statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and their financial
performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS). Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner
in which it accounts for revenue from contracts with customers in 2018.

Basis for Opinions
The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting on page 28 of the 2018 Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.



Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

(Signed) “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
February 19, 2019

We have served as the Company’s auditor since at least 1992. We have not been able to determine the
specific year we began serving as auditor of the Company.
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GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars except shares and per share data)

Notes  For the Years Ended December 31,

   2018  2017

      

      

Revenue 17  $ 273,017  $ 315,497
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization 18  223,729  226,482
Depreciation and amortization   33,939  31,792

Mine operating margin   15,349  57,223
      

Other expenses/(income)      
Exploration expense   2,959  1,871
General and administrative   16,428  25,090
Finance expense, net 19  18,072  8,485
Other income 20  (3,603)  (4,346)
Gain on fair value of financial instruments, net 5  (6,786)  (2,057)
Loss on conversion of 7% Convertible Debentures, net   —  165

(Loss)/income before tax   (11,721)  28,015
Deferred income tax expense/(recovery) 8  12,350  (12,944)

Net (loss)/income and comprehensive (loss)/income   $ (24,071)  $ 40,959
Net (loss)/income attributable to non-controlling interest   (5,948)  2,188

Net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders   $ (18,123)  $ 38,771

      
Net (loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders      
Basic 16  $ (0.21)  $ 0.52
Diluted 16  $ (0.21)  $ 0.48
Weighted average shares outstanding-basic (millions)   84.3  74.7
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted (millions)   84.3  88.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)

   As of  As of

 Notes  
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017

      
ASSETS      
CURRENT ASSETS      

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 96,507  $ 27,787
Accounts receivable   3,213  3,428
Inventories 6  35,196  50,653
Prepaids and other   5,291  5,014

Total Current Assets   140,207  86,882
RESTRICTED CASH   6,545  6,505
MINING INTERESTS 7  270,640  254,058
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS   595  12,944

Total Assets   $ 417,987  $ 360,389

      
LIABILITIES      
CURRENT LIABILITIES      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9  $ 78,484  $ 94,623
Current portion of rehabilitation provisions 10  7,665  6,566
Current portion of deferred revenue 11  14,316  17,894
Current portion of long term debt 12  27,482  15,864
Current portion of other liability 15  6,410  13,498

Total Current Liabilities   134,357  148,445
REHABILITATION PROVISIONS 10  58,560  64,146
DEFERRED REVENUE 11  105,632  92,062
LONG TERM DEBT 12  73,224  79,741
DERIVATIVE LIABILITY 5  4,177  10,963
OTHER LIABILITY 15  —  6,786

Total Liabilities   375,950  402,143
      
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY      
SHARE CAPITAL      

First preferred shares, without par value, unlimited shares authorized. No shares issued and outstanding   —  —
Common shares, without par value, unlimited shares authorized 13  908,035  783,167

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS   37,258  35,284
DEFICIT   (831,283)  (794,180)

Shareholders' equity attributable to Golden Star shareholders   114,010  24,271
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST   (71,973)  (66,025)

Total Equity/(Deficit)   42,037  (41,754)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   $ 417,987  $ 360,389

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board,

"Timothy C. Baker"                              "Robert E. Doyle"
Timothy C. Baker, Director                        Robert E. Doyle, Director
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GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars)

  For the Years Ended December 31,
 Notes  2018  2017

      
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:      
Net (loss)/income   $ (24,071)  $ 40,959
Reconciliation of net (loss)/income to net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization   33,975  31,823
Share-based compensation 15  1,278  12,554
Deferred income tax expense/(recovery) 8  12,350  (12,944)
Gain on fair value of 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative 5  (6,786)  (2,095)
Recognition of deferred revenue 11  (13,738)  (14,156)
Proceeds from Royal Gold stream 11  —  10,000
Reclamation expenditures 10  (5,316)  (5,992)
Other 24  11,925  2,475
Changes in working capital 24  (17,172)  (7,448)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities   (7,555)  55,176
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:      

Additions to mining properties   (677)  (632)
Additions to plant and equipment   (95)  (649)
Additions to construction in progress   (44,163)  (67,591)
Proceeds from asset disposal   38  —
Change in accounts payable and deposits on mine equipment and material   (3,014)  1,103
Increase in restricted cash   (40)  (41)

Net cash used in investing activities   (47,951)  (67,810)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      

Principal payments on debt 12  (15,607)  (2,198)
Proceeds from debt agreements 12  35,000  10,000
5% Convertible Debentures repayment   —  (13,611)
Royal Gold loan repayment 12  (20,000)  —
Shares issued, net   124,772  24,456
Exercise of options   61  10

Net cash provided by financing activities   124,226  18,657
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   68,720  6,023
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   27,787  21,764
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 96,507  $ 27,787

See Note 24 for supplemental cash flow information.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Stated in thousands of U.S. dollars except share data)

  
Number of 
Common 
Shares 1  Share 

Capital   Contributed 
Surplus  Deficit  Non-Controlling

Interest  
Total 

Shareholders' 
Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2016  67,071,290  $ 746,542  $ 33,861  $ (832,951)  $ (68,213)  $ (120,761)

Shares issued  8,161,900  35,682  —  —  —  35,682

Shares issued under DSUs  233,539  521  (521)  —  —  —

Shares issued under options  4,750  16  (6)  —  —  10

Shares issued under warrants  644,736  2,450  —  —  —  2,450

Options granted net of forfeitures  —  —  1,229  —  —  1,229

Deferred share units granted  —  —  387  —  —  387

Performance and restricted share units granted  —  —  334  —  —  334

Share issue costs  —  (2,044)  —  —  —  (2,044)

Net income  —  —  —  38,771  2,188  40,959

Balance at December 31, 2017  76,116,215  $ 783,167  $ 35,284  $ (794,180)  $ (66,025)  $ (41,754)

Impact of adopting IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 (see Note 3)  —  —  —  (18,980)  —  (18,980)

Balance at January 1, 2018 (restated)  76,116,215  $ 783,167  $ 35,284  $ (813,160)  $ (66,025)  $ (60,734)

Shares issued (see Note 13)  32,642,100  125,672  —  —  —  125,672

Shares issued under DSUs  36,194  20  (165)  —  —  (145)

Shares issued under options  24,500  77  (16)  —  —  61

Options granted net of forfeitures  —  —  1,248  —  —  1,248

Deferred share units granted  —  —  565  —  —  565

Performance and restricted share units granted  —  —  342  —  —  342

Share issue costs  —  (901)  —  —  —  (901)

Net loss  —  —  —  (18,123)  (5,948)  (24,071)

Balance at December 31, 2018  108,819,009  $ 908,035  $ 37,258  $ (831,283)  $ (71,973)  $ 42,037

1 See Note 13 for share consolidation details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(All currency amounts in tables are in thousands of U.S. dollars unless noted otherwise)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Golden Star Resources Ltd. ("Golden Star" or "the Company" or "we" or "our") is a Canadian federally-incorporated, international gold mining and exploration
company  headquartered  in  Toronto,  Canada.  The  Company's  shares  are  listed  on  the  Toronto  Stock  Exchange  (the  "TSX")  under  the  symbol  GSC,  the  NYSE
American (formerly NYSE MKT) under the symbol GSS and the Ghana Stock Exchange under the symbol GSR. The Company's registered office is located at 150
King Street West, Suite 1200, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1J9, Canada.

Through our 90% owned subsidiary, Golden Star (Wassa) Limited, we own and operate the Wassa open-pit gold mine, the Wassa underground mine and a carbon-
in-leach  ("CIL")  processing  plant  (collectively,  "Wassa"),  located  northeast  of  the  town  of  Tarkwa,  Ghana.  Through  our 90% owned  subsidiary  Golden  Star
(Bogoso/Prestea)  Limited,  the  Company owns and operates  the  Bogoso gold  mining and processing  operations,  the  Prestea  open-pit  mining  operations  and the
Prestea underground mine ("Prestea") located near the town of Prestea, Ghana. We hold and manage interests in several gold exploration projects in Ghana and in
Brazil.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and with interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") which the Canadian
Accounting Standards Board has approved for incorporation into Part 1 of the CPA Canada Handbook – Accounting.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on February 19, 2019 .

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, whether owned directly or indirectly. The financial statements of
the  subsidiaries  are  prepared  for  the  same  period  as  the  Company  using  consistent  accounting  policies  for  all  periods  presented,  except  for  the  changes  in
accounting  policies  described  in  Note 3 below.  All  inter-company  balances  and  transactions  have  been  eliminated.  Subsidiaries  are  entities  controlled  by  the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are a separate component of the Company's equity.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and discharge of all liabilities in
the normal course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

3. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash deposits in any currency residing in chequing and sweep accounts.  Cash equivalents consist  of money market funds and other highly liquid
investments purchased with maturities of three months or less. Investments with maturities greater than three months and up to one year are classified as short-term
investments, while those with maturities in excess of one year are classified as long-term investments. Cash equivalents and short-term investments are stated at
amortized cost, which typically approximates market value.

Inventories

Inventory  classifications  include  "stockpiled  ore,"  "in-process  inventory,"  "finished  goods  inventory"  and  "materials  and  supplies".  The  stated  value  of  all
production  inventories  include  direct  production  costs  and  attributable  overhead  and  depreciation  incurred  to  bring  the  materials  to  their  current  point  in  the
processing cycle. General and administrative costs for corporate offices are not included in any inventories.

Stockpiled ore represents coarse ore that has been extracted from the mine and is stored for future processing. Stockpiled ore is measured by estimating the number
of tonnes (via truck counts or by physical surveys) added to, or removed from the stockpile,

10



the  number  of  contained  ounces  (based  on  assay  data)  and  estimated  gold  recovery  percentage.  Stockpiled  ore  value  is  based  on  the  costs  incurred  (including
depreciation and amortization) in bringing the ore to the stockpile. Costs are added to the stockpiled ore based on current mining costs per tonne and are removed
at the average cost per tonne of ore in the stockpile.

In-process  inventory  represents  material  that  is  currently  being treated  in  the  processing  plants  to  extract  the  contained  gold  and to  transform it  into  a  saleable
product.  The  amount  of  gold  in  the  in-process  inventory  is  determined  by  assay  and  by  measure  of  the  quantities  of  the  various  gold-bearing  materials  in  the
recovery process. The in-process gold is valued at the average of the beginning inventory and the cost of material fed into the processing stream plus in-process
conversion costs including applicable mine-site overheads, depreciation and amortization related to the processing facilities.

Finished goods inventory is saleable gold in the form of doré bars. Included in the costs are the direct costs of the mining and processing operations as well as
direct mine-site overheads, amortization and depreciation.

Materials and supplies inventories consist mostly of equipment parts and other consumables required in the mining and ore processing activities.

All inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets, including machinery, processing equipment, mining equipment, mine site facilities, buildings, vehicles and expenditures that
extend the life of such assets, are initially recorded at cost including acquisition and installation costs. Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The costs of self-constructed assets include direct construction costs and direct overhead during the construction phase. Indirect overhead costs are not included in
the cost of self-constructed assets.

Depreciation for mobile equipment and other assets having estimated lives shorter than the estimated life of the ore reserves is calculated using the straight-line
method at rates which depreciate the cost of the assets, less their anticipated residual values, if any, over their estimated useful lives. Mobile mining equipment is
amortized  over  a five year  life.  Assets,  such  as  processing  plants,  power  generators  and  buildings,  which  have  an  estimated  life  equal  to  or  greater  than  the
estimated life of the ore reserves,  are amortized over the life of the proven and probable reserves of the associated mining property using a units-of-production
amortization method, less their anticipated residual values, if any. The net book value of property, plant and equipment assets is charged against income if the mine
site is abandoned and it is determined that the assets cannot be economically transferred to another project or sold.

The residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting period end, and adjusted prospectively
if appropriate.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount,
and are recognized net in the consolidated statement of operations.

Mining properties

Mining  property  assets,  including  property  acquisition  costs,  tailings  storage  facilities,  mine-site  development  and  drilling  costs  where  proven  and  probable
reserves have previously been established, pre-production waste stripping, condemnation drilling, roads, feasibility studies and wells are recorded at cost. The costs
of self-constructed assets include direct construction costs, direct overhead costs and allocated interest during the construction phase. Indirect overhead costs are
not included in the cost of self-constructed assets.

Mining property assets are amortized over the life of the proven and probable reserves to which they relate, using a units-of-production amortization method. At
open pit mines the costs of removing overburden from an ore body in order to expose ore during its initial development period are capitalized.

Underground mine development costs

Underground  mine  development  costs  include  development  costs  to  build  new  shafts,  drifts  and  ramps  that  will  enable  the  Company  to  physically  access  ore
underground. The time over which the Company will continue to incur these costs depends on the mine life. These underground development costs are capitalized
as incurred. Capitalized underground development costs incurred to enable access to specific ore blocks or areas of the underground mine, and which only provide
an economic benefit over the period of mining that ore block or area, are depreciated on a units-of-production basis, whereby the denominator is estimated ounces
of gold in proven and probable reserves and the portion of resources within that ore block or area that is considered probable of economic extraction. If capitalized
underground  development  costs  provide  an  economic  benefit  over  the  entire  mine  life,  the  costs  are  depreciated  on  a  units-of-production  basis,  whereby  the
denominator is the estimated ounces of gold in total accessible proven and probable reserves and the portion of resources that is considered probable of economic
extraction.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized. Qualifying assets are assets that require a significant
amount  of  time to  prepare  for  their  intended use,  including projects  that  are  in  the  exploration  and evaluation,  development  or  construction  stages.  Capitalized
borrowing costs are considered an element of the cost of the qualifying asset which is determined based on gross expenditures incurred on an asset. Capitalization
ceases when the asset is substantially complete or if active development is suspended or ceases. Where the funds used to finance a qualifying asset form part of
general borrowings, the amount capitalized is calculated using a weighted average of rates applicable to the relevant borrowings during the period. Where funds
borrowed are directly attributable to a qualifying asset, the amount capitalized represents the borrowing costs specific to those borrowings. Other borrowing costs
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company assesses at each reporting period whether there is an indication that an asset or group of assets may be impaired. When impairment indicators exist,
the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset and compares it against the asset's carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less cost of disposal ("FVLCD") and the asset's value in use ("VIU"). If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded
in the consolidated statement of operations.

In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset not already reflected in the estimates of future cash flows. The cash flows are based on best estimates of
expected future cash flows from the continued use of the asset and its eventual disposal.

FVLCD is best evidenced if obtained from an active market or binding sale agreement. Where neither exists, the fair value is based on the best estimates available
to reflect the amount that could be received from an arm's length transaction.

Future cash flows are based on estimated quantities of gold and other recoverable metals, expected price of gold (considering current and historical prices, price
trends and related factors), production levels and cash costs of production, capital and reclamation costs, all based on detailed engineered life-of-mine plans.

Numerous  factors  including,  but  not  limited  to,  unexpected  grade  changes,  gold  recovery  variances,  shortages  of  equipment  and  consumables,  and  equipment
failures  could  impact  our  ability  to  achieve  forecasted  production  schedules  from  proven  and  probable  reserves.  Additionally,  commodity  prices,  capital
expenditure requirements and reclamation costs could differ from the assumptions used in the cash flow models used to assess impairment. The ability to achieve
the estimated quantities of recoverable minerals from exploration stage mineral  interests  involves further risks in addition to those factors applicable to mineral
interests where proven and probable reserves have been identified, due to the lower level of confidence that the identified mineralized material can ultimately be
mined economically.

If an impairment loss reverses in a subsequent period, the carrying amount (post reversal) of the related asset is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable
amount  to  the  extent  that  the  increased  carrying  amount  does  not  exceed  the  carrying  amount  that  would  have  been  determined  had  no  impairment  loss  been
recognized for the asset previously. Reversals of impairment losses are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the reversals occur.

Material changes to any of the factors or assumptions discussed above could result in future asset impairments.

Rehabilitation provisions

The  Company  records  a  liability  and  corresponding  asset  for  the  present  value  of  the  estimated  costs  of  legal  and  constructive  obligations  for  future  site
reclamation and closure where the liability is probable and a reasonable estimate can be made of the obligation. The estimated present value of the obligation is
reassessed on a periodic basis or when new material information becomes available. Increases or decreases to the obligation usually arise due to changes in legal or
regulatory requirements, the extent of environmental remediation required, methods of reclamation, cost estimates, inflation rates, or discount rates. Changes to the
provision for reclamation and remediation obligations related to operating mines, which are not the result of current production of inventory, are recorded with an
offsetting change to the related asset. Changes to the provision for reclamation and remediation obligations related to suspended mine operations are recognized in
the  consolidated  statements  of  operations  and  comprehensive  loss.  The  present  value  is  determined  based  on  current  market  assessments  of  the  time  value  of
money using discount rates based on the risk-free rate maturing approximating the timing of expected expenditures to be incurred, and adjusted for country related
risks. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations as a finance expense.

Deferred revenue

Until December 31, 2017, deferred revenue consists of payments received by the Company for future delivery of payable gold under the terms of the Company’s
Streaming Agreement. As deliveries were made, the Company recorded a portion of the deferred
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revenue as sales,  on a unit  of production basis over the volume of gold expected to be delivered during the term of the streaming arrangement.  The amount by
which the deferred revenue balance was reduced and recognized into revenue was based on a rate per ounce of gold delivered under the stream. This rate per ounce
of gold delivered was based on the remaining deferred revenue balance divided by the ounces that are expected to be delivered under the Stream Arrangement over
the life of the arrangement. This estimate is re-evaluated at each reporting period with any resulting changes in estimate reflected prospectively.

Prior  to the adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts  with Customers, the Streaming Agreement  was recorded as a  contract  for  the future delivery of gold
ounces at the contracted price. The upfront payments were accounted for as prepayments of yet-to-be delivered ounces under the contract and were recorded as
deferred revenue. The initial term of the contract is 40 years and the deposit bears no interest.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the requirements of IFRS 15. The Company elected to use the modified retrospective approach to initially adopt IFRS
15 which resulted in recognizing the cumulative effect of prior period amounts as an adjustment to the opening balance sheet through opening deficit on January 1,
2018.

From January 1, 2018, deferred revenue consists of: 1) initial cash payments received by the Company for future delivery of payable gold under the terms of the
Company’s Streaming Agreement as defined in Note 11 , Deferred Revenue, and 2) a significant financing component of the Company’s Streaming Agreement.
Deferred revenue is increased as interest expense is recognized based on the implicit interest rate of the discounted cash flows arising from the expected delivery of
ounces under the Company’s Streaming Agreement.

The amount by which the deferred revenue balance is reduced and recognized into revenue is based on a rate per ounce of gold delivered under the stream. This
rate per ounce of gold delivered relating to the payments received by the Company is based on the remaining deferred revenue balance divided by the ounces that
are expected to be delivered over the term of the Stream Agreement.

As the Company’s Streaming Agreement contains a variable component,  IFRS 15 requires that  the transaction price be updated and re-allocated on an ongoing
basis.  As a  result,  the deferred revenue recognized per  ounce of gold delivered under  the Streaming Agreement  will  require  an adjustment  each time there is  a
significant change in the underlying gold production profile of a mine. Should a change in the transaction price be necessary, a retroactive adjustment to revenue
will be made in the period in which the change occurs, to reflect the updated production profile expected to be delivered under the Streaming Agreement.

Foreign currency transactions

The  Company's  presentation  currency  of  its  consolidated  financial  statements  is  the  U.S.  dollar,  as  is  the  functional  currency  of  its  operations. The functional
currency of all consolidated subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at period end exchange rates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Income and expense items are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the translation of
these  amounts  are  included in  net  loss,  except  those  arising  on the  translation  of  equity  investments  at  fair  value  through other  comprehensive  income that  are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated
at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date .

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise the provision for (or recovery of) taxes actually paid or payable (current taxes) and for deferred taxes.

Current taxes are based on taxable earnings in the year. Current tax is calculated using tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the respective jurisdictions.

Current income tax assets and current income tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the amounts and the Company intends to
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed using enacted or substantially
enacted income tax rates in effect when the temporary differences are expected to reverse. The effect on the deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in the period of substantial enactment. The provision for or the recovery of deferred taxes is based on the changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities during the period.

The carrying amount  of  deferred income tax assets  is  reviewed at  the  end of  each reporting period and recognized to  the extent  that  it  is  probable  that  taxable
earnings will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
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Net income/(loss) per share

Basic income/(loss) per share of common stock is calculated by dividing income available to Golden Star's common shareholders by the weighted average number
of common shares issued and outstanding during the period. In periods with earnings, the calculation of diluted net income per common share uses the treasury
stock method to compute the dilutive effects of stock options, warrants, convertible debentures and other potentially dilutive instruments. In periods of loss, diluted
net loss per share is equal to basic income per share.

Revenue recognition

Until December 31, 2017, revenue from the sale of metal was recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the purchaser. This
occurs when the amount of revenue could be measured reliably, the metal had been delivered, title has passed to the buyer and it was probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. Title and risk of ownership pass to the buyer on the day doré was shipped from the mine sites. On
January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the requirements of IFRS 15, where revenue from the sale of metal is recognized when the Company transfers control over
to a customer. There was no impact to the accounting of revenue from the sale of doré on adoption of IFRS 15. All of our spot sales of gold are transported to a
South African gold refiner who locates a buyer and arranges for sale of our gold on the same day that the gold is shipped from the mine site. The sales price is
based on the London P.M. fix on the day of shipment.

Revenue recognition for the Company’s Streaming Agreement is disclosed in the accounting policy for deferred revenue.

Share-based compensation

Under the Company's Fourth Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan, common share options may be granted to executives, employees, consultants and
non-employee directors. Compensation expense for such grants is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss)/income, with a
corresponding increase recorded in the contributed surplus account in the consolidated balance sheets. The expense is based on the fair value of the option at the
time  of  grant,  measured  by  reference  to  the  fair  value  determined  using  a  Black-Scholes  valuation  model,  and  is  recognized  over  the  vesting  periods  of  the
respective options on a graded basis. Consideration paid to the Company on exercise of options is credited to share capital.

Under  the  Company's  Deferred  Share  Unit  ("DSU")  plan,  DSUs  may  be  granted  to  executive  officers  and  directors.  Compensation  expense  for  such  grants  is
recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss)/income with a corresponding increase recorded in the contributed surplus account
in the consolidated balance sheets. The expense is based on the fair values at the time of grant and is recognized over the vesting periods of the respective DSUs.
Upon exercise the Company's compensation committee may, at its discretion, issue cash, shares or a combination thereof.

Under the Company's Share Appreciation Rights ("SARs") plan allows SARs to be issued to executives, employees and directors. These awards are settled in cash
on the exercise date equal to the Company's stock price less the strike price. Since these awards are settled in cash, the Company marks-to-market the associated
expense for each award at the end of each reporting period using a Black-Scholes model. The Company accounts for these as liability awards and marks-to-market
the fair value of the award until final settlement. 

Under the Company's Performance Share Units ("PSU") plan, PSUs may be granted to executives, employees and non-employee directors. Each PSU represents
one notional  common  share  that  is  redeemed  for  cash  based  on  the  value  of  a  common  share  at  the  end  of  the three year  performance  period,  to  the  extent
performance and vesting criteria have been met. The PSUs vest at the end of a three year performance. The cash award is determined by multiplying the number of
units  by  the  performance  adjusting  factor,  which  ranges  from 0% to 200% .  The  performance  factor  is  determined  by  comparing  the  Company's  share  price
performance to the share price performance of a peer group of companies as listed in the PSU plan. As the Company is required to settle these awards in cash, they
are accounted for as liability awards with corresponding compensation expense recognized. Long term PSU liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet as Long
Term Other Liability and the current portion is recorded as Other Liability.

Under the Company's 2017 performance and restricted share unit plan (the "2017 PRSU Plan"), performance share units ("2017 PSUs") and restricted share units
("2017 RSUs" and, together with the 2017 PSUs, the "Share Units") may be issued to any employee or officer of the Company or its designated affiliates. Share
Units  may  be  redeemed  for:  (i)  common  shares  issued  from  treasury;  (ii)  common  shares  purchased  in  the  secondary  market;  (iii)  a  cash  payment;  or  (iv)  a
combination of (i), (ii) and (iii).

Each PRSU represents one notional common share that is redeemed for common shares or common shares plus cash subject to the consent of the Company based
on the value of a common share at the end of the three year performance period, to the extent performance and vesting criteria have been met. The PRSUs vest at
the end of a three year performance period. The award is determined by multiplying the number of Share Units by the performance adjustment factor, which ranges
from 0% to 200% . The performance adjustment factor is determined by comparing the Company's share price performance to the share price performance of a
peer group of companies as listed in the 2017 PRSU Plan. As the Company has a practice of settling these awards in common shares, they are accounted for as
equity awards with corresponding compensation expense recognized.
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Leases

Leases  that  transfer  substantially  all  of  the benefits  and risks  of  ownership to the Company are  recorded as  finance leases  and classified  as  property,  plant  and
equipment with a corresponding amount recorded with current and long-term debt. All other leases are classified as operating leases under which leasing costs are
expensed in the period incurred. The Company will adopt IFRS 16, which was issued in January 2016 and applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. See Changes in accounting policies below.

Financial instruments

Until  December  31,  2017,  the  Company recognized all  financial  assets  initially  at  fair  value  and classifies  them into one of  the following three  categories:  fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), available-for-sale ("AFS") or loans and receivables, as appropriate. The Company had not classified any of its financial
assets as held to maturity.

From January 1, 2018, the Company recognizes all financial assets initially at fair value and classifies them into one of the following measurement categories: fair
value  through  profit  or  loss  (“FVTPL”),  fair  value  through  other  comprehensive  income  (“FVOCI”)  or  amortized  cost,  as  appropriate.  On  adoption  of  IFRS 9
Financial Instruments ,  there  was  no  accounting  impact  to  the  financial  statements  and  there  were  no  changes  in  the  carrying  values  of  any  of  the  Company's
financial assets.

The Company recognizes all financial liabilities initially at fair value and classifies them as either FVTPL or loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Company
has not classified any of its derivatives as hedging instruments in an effective hedge.

5% Convertible Debentures

The Company's 5% Convertible  Debentures  were  considered  financial  instruments  at  FVTPL.  The  convertible  debentures  contained  embedded  derivatives  that
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract. The convertible debentures were recorded at fair value based on unadjusted
quoted  prices  in  active  markets  when  available,  otherwise  by  valuing  the  embedded  derivative  conversion  feature  and  the  debt  component  separately.  The
conversion feature was valued using a Black-Scholes model and the value of the debt was determined based on the present value of the future cash flows. Changes
in  fair  value  were  recorded  in  the  consolidated  statement  of  operations.  Upfront  costs  and  fees  related  to  the  convertible  debentures  were  recognized  in  the
statement of operations as incurred and not deferred. The Company's 5% Convertible Debentures were fully settled during the year ended December 31, 2017 .

Warrants

The Company's warrants were considered financial instruments at FVTPL. Prior to the holder exercising the warrants in full in 2017, the holder of the warrants had
an option to request a cashless exercise. As a result, the warrants were classified as financial liability instruments and were recorded at fair value at each reporting
period end using a Black-Scholes model. Warrant pricing models required the input of certain assumptions including price volatility and expected life. All warrants
were exercised during the year ended December 31, 2017 .

Derivatives

From time to time the Company may utilize foreign exchange and commodity price derivatives to manage exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates  and gold prices,  respectively.  The Company does not  employ derivative  financial  instruments  for  trading purposes or  for  speculative  purposes.  Derivative
instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company did not
have any foreign exchange derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2018 .

7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative

The Company's 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative is considered a financial  instrument at  FVTPL. The embedded derivative was recorded at fair
value  on  the  date  of  debt  issuance.  It  is  subsequently  remeasured  at  fair  value  at  each  reporting  date,  and  the  changes  in  the  fair  value  are  recorded  in  the
consolidated statement of operations. The fair value of the embedded derivative is determined using a convertible note valuation model, using assumptions based
on market conditions existing at the reporting date.

Share capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the gross proceeds.

Changes in accounting policies

The  Company  has  adopted  the  following  new  and  revised  standards,  effective  January  1,  2018.  These  changes  were  made  in  accordance  with  the  applicable
transitional provisions.
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IFRS 2 Share-based payments was amended to address (i) certain issues related to the accounting for cash settled awards, and (ii) the accounting for equity settled
awards that include a "net settlement" feature in respect of employee withholding taxes effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. There was no
impact to the financial statements on adoption of this standard.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was issued in July 2014 and includes (i) a third measurement category for financial assets - fair value through other comprehensive
income; (ii) a single, forward-looking "expected loss" impairment model; and (iii) a mandatory effective date of annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2018.  On adoption of  this  standard,  there  was no accounting impact  to  the financial  statements  and there  were  no changes  in  the  carrying values  of  any of  the
Company's financial assets.

IFRS 15 Revenue  from  Contracts  with  Customers was  amended  to  clarify  how to  (i)  identify  a  performance  obligation  in  a  contract;  (ii)  determine  whether  a
company is a principal or an agent; and (iii) determine whether the revenue from granting a license should be recognized at a point in time or over time. In addition
to  the  clarifications,  the  amendments  include  two  additional  reliefs  to  reduce  cost  and  complexity  for  a  company  when  it  first  applies  the  new  standard.  The
amendments  have  the  same  effective  date  as  the  standard,  which  is  January  1,  2018.  The  impact  of  the  initial  adoption  of  IFRS  15  was $19.0  million . The
adjustment was recorded as an increase to deferred revenue with a corresponding increase to opening deficit.

Standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

IFRS 16 Leases specifies  how an  IFRS reporter  will  recognize,  measure,  present  and  disclose  leases.  The  standard  provides  a  single  lessee  accounting  model,
requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue
to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16's approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17. IFRS 16 was issued
in January 2016 and applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company has completed an evaluation of the population of its
contracts  to  ensure  compliance  with  the  new  lease  standard.  The  assessment  has  identified  some  contracts  that  will  likely  be  capitalized  under  the  new  lease
standard however the Company does not expect there to be a material impact on the financial statements upon adoption of IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019, which will
be applied on a modified retrospective basis.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12, Income Taxes, are applied where there is
uncertainty over income tax treatments effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019. There is not expected to be any accounting impact to the financial
statements on adoption of this standard.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that can affect
reported amounts of assets,  liabilities,  revenues and expenses and the accompanying disclosures.  Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are
based on management's  historical  experience and on other  assumptions we believe to be reasonable  under  the circumstances.  However,  uncertainty  about  these
judgments, estimates and assumptions could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future
periods.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are recorded at the lower of average cost or net realizable value ("NRV"). The allocation of costs to ore in stockpiles and the determination of NRV
involve  the  use  of  estimates.  Stockpiled  ore  represents  coarse  ore  that  has  been  extracted  from the  mine  and  is  stored  for  future  processing.  Stockpiled  ore  is
measured using estimates such as the number of tonnes (via truck counts or by physical surveys) added to, or removed from the stockpile, the number of contained
ounces (based on assay data) and estimated gold recovery percentage. Timing and recovery of stockpiled ore can vary significantly from the estimates.

The net realizable value of materials  and supplies is recorded based on the expected usage of the inventory items, salvage value and condition of the inventory
items, all of which are based on management estimates and judgments.

Mineral reserves and resources

Determining  mineral  reserves  and  resources  is  a  complex  process  involving  numerous  variables  and  is  based  on  a  professional  evaluation  using  accepted
international standards for the assessment of mineral reserves. Estimation is a subjective process, and the accuracy of such estimates is a function of the quantity
and quality of available data,  the assumptions made and judgments used in engineering and geological  interpretation.  Mineral  reserve estimation may vary as a
result of changes in the price of gold, production costs, and with additional knowledge of the ore deposits and mining conditions.

Differences between management's assumptions including economic assumptions such as metal prices and market conditions could have a material effect in the
future  on  the  Company's  results  and  financial  position,  particularly  a  change  in  the  rate  of  depreciation  and  amortization  of  the  related  mining  assets  and  the
recognition of deferred revenue.
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Units of production depreciation

The mineral properties and a large portion of the property, plant and equipment is depreciated/amortized using the units of production method over the expected
operating life of the mine based on estimated recoverable ounces of gold, which are the prime determinants of the life of a mine. Estimated recoverable ounces of
gold include proven and probable mineral reserves. Changes in the estimated mineral reserves and resources will result in changes to the depreciation charges over
the remaining life of the operation. A decrease in the mineral reserves would increase depreciation and amortization expense and this could have a material impact
on the operating results. The amortization base is updated on an annual basis based on the new mineral reserve and resource estimates.

Carrying value of assets and impairment charges

The  Company  undertakes  a  review  of  its  assets  at  each  reporting  period  to  determine  whether  any  indication  of  impairment  exists.  Where  an  indicator  of
impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit ("CGU") is made, which is considered to be the higher of its
FVLCD and  VIU.  An  impairment  loss  is  recognized  when  the  carrying  value  of  the  asset  or  CGU is  higher  than  the  recoverable  amount.  In  undertaking  this
review, management of the Company is required to make significant estimates of, amongst other things, discount rates, future production and sale volumes, metal
prices, reserves and resource quantities, future operating and capital costs and reclamation costs to the end of the mine's life. These estimates are subject to various
risks and uncertainties,  which may ultimately have an effect  on the expected recoverability  of  the carrying values of the asset  or CGU. In determining a CGU,
management has examined the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of cash inflows from other assets or
group of assets.

Rehabilitation provisions

Environmental reclamation and closure liabilities are recognized at the time of environmental disturbance, in amounts equal to the discounted value of expected
future reclamation and closure costs. The estimated future cash costs of such liabilities are based primarily upon environmental and regulatory requirements of the
various  jurisdictions  in  which  we  operate  as  well  as  any  other  constructive  obligations  that  exist.  The  liability  represents  management's  best  estimates  of  cash
required to settle the liability, inflation, assumptions of risks associated with future cash flows and the applicable risk-free interest rates for discounting the future
cash outflow. The liability is reassessed and remeasured at each reporting date.

Fair value of financial instruments, including embedded derivatives

Where  the  fair  value  of  financial  assets  and  financial  liabilities  recorded  in  the  financial  statements  cannot  be  derived  from  active  markets,  their  fair  value  is
determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk,
credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses observable market data to the greatest extent possible. Fair values are categorized into
different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Income taxes

We deal with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in the various jurisdictions where our properties are located. The amount of
taxes paid is dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in the various jurisdictions and resolution of disputes arising from our
international tax audits. We recognize potential liabilities and record tax liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in our various tax jurisdictions based on our best
estimate of additional taxes payable. We adjust these tax estimates in light of changing facts and circumstances, however, due to the complexity of some of these
uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in payment that is materially different from our estimates of our tax liabilities. If our estimate of tax liability proves
to  be  less  than  the  ultimate  assessment,  an  additional  charge  to  expense  would  result.  If  the  estimate  of  tax  liabilities  proves  to  be  greater  that  the  ultimate
assessment, a tax benefit is recognized.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it  is probable that taxable earnings will  be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilized.

Deferred revenue

Significant judgment is required in determining the appropriate accounting for the Streaming Agreement that has been entered into. Management has determined
that based on the agreements reached that it assumes significant business risk associated with
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the  timing and amount  of  ounces of  gold being delivered.  As such,  the deposits  received have been recorded as  deferred  revenue liabilities  in  the consolidated
balance sheet. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue based on the percentage of ounces delivered in the period over the total estimated ounces to be delivered
over the life of the Streaming Agreement.

Commencement of commercial production

Prior to the period when a mine has reached management’s intended operating levels, costs incurred as part of the development of the related mining property are
capitalized  and  any  gold  sales  during  the  development  period  are  offset  against  the  cost  capitalized.  The  Company  defines  the  commencement  of  commercial
production as the date that a mine has achieved a consistent level of production. Depreciation/amortization of capitalized costs for mining properties begins when
operating levels intended by management has been reached.

There are a number of factors the Company considers when determining if conditions exist for the commencement of commercial production of an operating mine.
Management examines the following factors when making that judgement:

• All major capital expenditures to bring the mine to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management have
been completed;

• The completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine properties;
• The mine and/or mill has reached a pre-determined percentage of design capacity; and
• The ability to sustain ongoing production of ore.

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following tables illustrate the classification of the Company's recurring fair value measurements for financial instruments within the fair value hierarchy and
their carrying values and fair values as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 :

   December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

 Level  Carrying value  Fair value  Carrying value  Fair value
Financial Liabilities          
Fair value through profit or loss          

7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative 3  4,177  4,177  10,963  10,963

There were no non-recurring fair value measurements of financial instruments as at December 31, 2018 .

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:
Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The Company's policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of the fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. During the year ended December 31, 2018 , there were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Gain on fair value of financial instruments in the Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss)/Income includes the following components:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Loss on fair value of 5% Convertible Debentures $ —  $ 317
Gain on fair value of warrants —  (86)
Gain on warrant exercise —  (193)
Gain on fair value of 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative (6,786)  (2,095)

 $ (6,786)  $ (2,057)
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The valuation technique that is used to measure fair value is as follows:

7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative

The  debt  component  of  the 7% Convertible  Debentures  is  recorded  at  amortized  cost  using  the  effective  interest  rate  method,  and  the  conversion  feature  is
classified as an embedded derivative measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The embedded derivative was valued at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 using a convertible note valuation model. The significant inputs used in the
convertible note valuation are as follows:

 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017
Embedded derivative    

Risk premium 5.0%  7.9%
Borrowing costs 10.0%  15.0%
Expected volatility 45.0%  45.0%
Remaining life (years) 2.6  3.6

The following table presents the changes in the 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative for the year ended December 31, 2018 :

 Fair value
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 10,963
Gain on fair value of 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative (6,786)
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 4,177

If the risk premium increases by 10% , the fair value of the 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative would decrease and the related gain in the Statement
of Operations would increase by $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 .

If  the  borrowing  costs  increases  by 10% ,  the  fair  value  of  the 7% Convertible  Debentures  embedded  derivative  would decrease and  the  related  gain  in  the
Statement of Operations would increase by $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 .

If  the  expected  volatility  increases  by 10% ,  the  fair  value  of  the 7% Convertible  Debentures  embedded derivative  would increase and  the  related  gain  in  the
Statement of Operations would decrease by $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 .

6. INVENTORIES
Inventories include the following components:

 As of  As of

 
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017
Stockpiled ore $ 6,613  $ 22,998
In-process ore 4,188  4,014
Materials and supplies 23,659  22,677
Finished goods 736  964
Total $ 35,196  $ 50,653

The cost of inventories expensed for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $209.4 million and $209.2 million , respectively.

Net realizable value adjustments of $2.8 million was recorded for stockpiled ore during the year ended December 31, 2018 ( year ended December 31, 2017 - $3.5
million ).

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , a total of $2.8 million materials  and supplies inventories were written off at  Wassa.  These are primarily related to
open-pit mining equipment, materials and supplies as open-pit mining at Wassa was terminated in the first quarter of 2018. There were no write offs in the prior
period.
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7. MINING INTERESTS
The following table shows the breakdown of the cost, accumulated depreciation and net book value of plant and equipment, mining properties and construction in
progress:

 
Plant and
equipment  Mining properties  

Construction in
progress  Total

Cost        
As of December 31, 2016 461,438  746,657  131,409  1,339,504

Additions 649  632  63,072  64,353
Transfers 24,269  48,122  (72,391)  —
Capitalized interest —  —  5,285  5,285
Change in rehabilitation provision estimate —  3,022  —  3,022
Disposals and other (7,142)  —  (452)  (7,594)

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 479,214  $ 798,433  $ 126,923  $ 1,404,570
Additions 95  677  45,485  46,257
Transfers 16,516  127,902  (144,418)  —
Capitalized interest —  —  579  579
Change in rehabilitation provision estimate —  3,218  —  3,218
Disposals and other (17,065)  —  —  (17,065)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 478,760  $ 930,230  $ 28,569  $ 1,437,559

        

Accumulated depreciation        
As of December 31, 2016 431,698  692,789  —  1,124,487

Depreciation and amortization 12,385  20,431  —  32,816
Disposals and other (6,791)  —  —  (6,791)

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 437,292  $ 713,220  $ —  $ 1,150,512
Depreciation and amortization 12,349  20,900  —  33,249
Disposals and other (16,842)  —  —  (16,842)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 432,799  $ 734,120  $ —  $ 1,166,919

        

Carrying amount        
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 41,922  $ 85,213  $ 126,923  $ 254,058

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 45,961  $ 196,110  $ 28,569  $ 270,640

As at December 31, 2018 , equipment under finance leases had net carrying amounts of $3.0 million ( December 31, 2017 - $1.6 million ). The total minimum
lease payments are disclosed in Note 12 - Debt.

No depreciation is charged to construction in progress assets. For the year ended December 31, 2018 , the general capitalization rate for borrowing costs was 7% .
Commercial production was achieved February 1, 2018, therefore no capitalized interest was recorded since.

8. INCOME TAXES

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities  based on the difference between the financial  reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities using the tax rates
enacted or  substantively  enacted when the temporary  differences  are  expected to  reverse.  Deferred tax assets  are  fully  recognized when we conclude sufficient
positive  evidence  exists  to  demonstrate  that  it  is  probable  that  a  deferred  tax  asset  will  be  realized.  These  factors  included,  but  not  limited  to,  (a)  historic  and
expected future levels of taxable income; (b) tax plans that affect whether tax assets can be realized; and (c) the nature, amount and expected timing of reversal of
taxable temporary differences.  Levels of future income are affected by market  price of gold,  forecasted future costs  of production and quantities  of proven and
probable gold reserves.  If these factors or other circumstances changes, the Company records an adjustment to the recognition of deferred tax asset to reflect the
Company’s latest assessment of the amount of deferred tax asset that is probable to be realized.
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Our net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 include the following components:

  As of  As of

  
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017

Deferred tax assets     
Tax losses carried forward  $ 10,322  $ 17,773
Deductible temporary differences relating to provisions  5,995  4,821

Deferred tax liabilities     
Mine property costs  15,723  9,650

Net deferred tax assets  $ 594  $ 12,944

The Company has recognized $0.6 million of net deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2018 following an assessment in the prior year of future profitability of the
Company’s subsidiary Golden Star (Wassa) Limited and concluded the realization of the net deferred tax assets is probable.

The composition of our unrecognized deferred tax assets by tax jurisdiction is summarized as follows:

  As of  As of

  
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017

Deductible temporary differences     
Canada  $ 8,844  $ 12,755
Ghana  31,509  44,232

  $ 40,353  $ 56,987

     

Tax losses     
Canada  $ 50,718  $ 48,411
U.S.  175  311
Ghana  287,545  257,771

  $ 338,438  $ 306,493

     

Total unrecognized deferred tax assets     
Canada  $ 59,562  $ 61,166
U.S.  175  311
Ghana  319,054  302,003

  $ 378,791  $ 363,480

The income tax expense/(recovery) includes the following components:

  
For the years ended

December 31,

  2018  2017
Current tax recovery     

Current tax on net earnings  $ 12,350  $ —
Deferred tax recovery     

Recovery of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets  —  (12,944)
Income tax expense/(recovery)  $ 12,350  $ (12,944)
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A reconciliation of expected income tax on net (loss)/income before minority interest at statutory rates with the actual income tax expense/(recovery) is as follows:
 

  
For the years ended

December 31,

  2018  2017

Net (loss)/income before tax  $ (11,721)  $ 28,015
Statutory tax rate  26.5%  26.5%
Tax benefit at statutory rate  $ (3,106)  $ 7,424
     

Foreign tax rates  (15,562)  (10,629)
Other  132  74
Non taxable/deductible items  (676)  (20)
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets due to exchange rates  3,427  (1,180)
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets  28,135  (8,613)

Deferred income tax expense/(recovery)  $ 12,350  $ (12,944)

At December 31, 2018 , the Company had a tax pool and loss carryovers expiring as follows:

  Canada  Ghana  Other
2019  $ —  $ 33,488  $ —
2020  —  109,841  —
2021  —  12,822  
2026  8,115   —
2027  12,306  117,889  —
2028  11,106  —  —
2029  16,841  —  —
2030  15,052  —  —
2031  28,240  —  —
2032  13,670  —  —
2033  5,884  —  347
2034  —  —  364
2035  8,049  —  1
2036  13,123  —  120
2037  14,827   
Indefinite  37,867  577,012  —

Total  $ 185,080  $ 851,052  $ 832

$821.6 million of the Ghana tax pool is usable against taxable income generated at Prestea, with the remaining amount totaling $29.5 million usable against taxable
income generated at Wassa.

9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following components:

 As of  As of

 
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017
Trade and other payables $ 42,947  $ 44,048
Accrued liabilities 25,522  40,165
Payroll related liabilities 10,015  10,410
Total $ 78,484  $ 94,623
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10. REHABILITATION PROVISIONS
At December 31, 2018 , the total undiscounted amount of future cash needs for rehabilitation was estimated to be $73.5 million . A discount rate assumption of 2%
and an inflation rate assumption of 2% were used to value the rehabilitation provisions. The changes in the carrying amount of the rehabilitation provisions are as
follows:

 

For the Year
Ended December

31, 2018  

For the Year
Ended December

31, 2017
Beginning balance $ 70,712  $ 77,382

Accretion of rehabilitation provisions 691  1,245
Changes in estimates 138  (1,923)
Cost of reclamation work performed (5,316)  (5,992)

Balance at the end of the period $ 66,225  $ 70,712

    

Current portion $ 7,665  $ 6,566
Long term portion 58,560  64,146

Total $ 66,225  $ 70,712

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recorded an increase in estimate for Wassa of $1.0 million due to a revision in the timing of payments.
At December 31, 2018 , the rehabilitation provision for Wassa was $17.2 million ( 2017 - $17.4 million ). The Company expects the payments for reclamation to
be incurred between 2019 and 2027.

During  the  year  ended December  31,  2018 ,  the  Company recorded  a decrease in  estimate  for  Prestea  of $0.8  million .  The decrease is  due  to  a $3.1 million
reduction  in  expected  reclamation  costs  relating  to  the  refractory  liability  and  a $2.3  million increase  in  the  expected  reclamation  costs  relating  to  the  non-
refractory operation. The reduction of $3.1 million was primarily a result of a reduction in water treatment liability from ongoing treatment and a negative water
balance. The reduction was recorded as other income since the carrying value of the underlying refractory assets were $nil after suspension of its operation in 2015.
At December 31, 2018 , the rehabilitation provision for Prestea was $49.0 million ( 2017 - $53.3 million ). The Company expects the payments for reclamation to
be incurred between 2019 and 2028.

11. DEFERRED REVENUE
On July 28, 2015, the Company through its subsidiary Caystar Finance Co. completed a $130 million gold purchase and sale agreement (“Streaming Agreement”)
with RGLD, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Royal Gold, Inc. ("RGI"). This Streaming Agreement was subsequently amended on December 30, 2015 to provide an
additional $15 million of streaming advance payment. The Streaming percentages were adjusted as follows to reflect the $15 million additional advance payment:
From January 1, 2016, the Company will deliver 9.25% of gold production from Wassa and Prestea to RGLD at a cash purchase price of 20% of spot gold. From
January 1, 2018, Golden Star will deliver 10.5% of gold production from Wassa and Prestea at a cash purchase price of 20% of spot gold until 240,000 ounces
have been delivered. Thereafter, 5.5% of gold production from Wassa and Prestea at a cash purchase price of 30% of spot gold price will be delivered.

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company sold 23,692 ounces of gold to RGLD. Revenue recognized on the ounces sold to RGLD during the year
ended December 31, 2018 consisted of $6.0 million of cash payment proceeds and $13.7 million of deferred revenue recognized in the period (see Note 17 ). The
Company has delivered a total of 78,461 ounces of gold to RGLD since the inception of the Streaming Agreement.
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 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017

Beginning balance $ 109,956  $ 114,112
Impact of adopting IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018 (see Note 3) 18,980  —
Deposits received —  10,000
Deferred revenue recognized (13,738)  (14,156)
Interest on financing component of deferred revenue 4,750  —

Balance at the end of the period $ 119,948  $ 109,956

    

Current portion $ 14,316  $ 17,894
Long term portion 105,632  92,062

Total $ 119,948  $ 109,956

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recognized $10.6 million deferred revenue, $3.1 million amortization of financing component, and $4.8
million interest on financing component of deferred revenue. Had the Company not adopted IFRS 15, deferred revenue recognized for the year ended December
31,  2018 would  have  been  $13.7  million  and  there  would  have  been  no  amortization  of  financing  component  or  interest  on  financing  component  of  deferred
revenue.

12. DEBT
The following table displays the components of our current and long term debt instruments:

 As of  As of
 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017

Current debt:    
Equipment financing credit facility $ —  $ 147
Finance leases 1,151  1,229
Ecobank Loan III 5,555  2,222
Ecobank Loan IV 4,000  —
Vendor agreement 16,776  12,266

Total current debt $ 27,482  $ 15,864
Long term debt:    

Finance leases $ 532  $ 269
Ecobank Loan III 14,380  7,337
Ecobank Loan IV 13,700  —
7% Convertible Debentures 44,612  42,515
Royal Gold loan —  18,817
Vendor agreement —  10,803

Total long term debt $ 73,224  $ 79,741

    

Current portion $ 27,482  $ 15,864
Long term portion 73,224  79,741

Total $ 100,706  $ 95,605

Equipment financing credit facility

Bogoso/Prestea and Wassa maintained an equipment financing facility with Caterpillar  Financial  Services Corporation, with Golden Star as the guarantor of all
amounts borrowed. The facility provided credit financing for mining equipment at a fixed interest rate of 6.5% . Amounts drawn under this facility were repayable
over a period of two to five years. Each outstanding equipment loan was secured by the title of the specific equipment purchased with the loan until the loan was
repaid in full.
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Finance leases

The Company financed mining equipment at Wassa and Bogoso/Prestea through equipment financing leases. These finance leases are payable in equal installments
over a period of 60 months and have implicit interest rates of 6.9% . Each outstanding finance lease is secured by the title of the specific equipment purchased with
the lease until the lease has been repaid in full.

During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company entered into two financing lease agreements totaling $1.9 million for a period of 24 months.

Ecobank Loan III

On February 22,  2017,  the Company through its  subsidiary Golden Star  (Wassa)  Limited closed a $25 million secured Medium Term Loan Facility ("Ecobank
Loan III")  with Ecobank Ghana Limited.  Ecobank Loan III  has a term of 60 months from the date  of  initial  drawdown and is  secured by,  among other  things,
Wassa's existing plant, and certain machinery and equipment having a specified value. The interest rate on the loan is three month LIBOR plus 8% , per annum,
payable monthly in arrears beginning a month following the initial drawdown. Repayment of principal commences six months following the initial drawdown and
is thereafter payable quarterly in arrears. The Company had twelve months to drawdown the loan.

On January 24, 2018, the Company drew down $15.0 million of the Ecobank Loan III. The full $25.0 million has been drawn as at December 31, 2018.

Ecobank Loan IV

On  June  28,  2018,  the  Company  through  its  subsidiary  Golden  Star  (Wassa)  Limited  closed  a $20.0  million secured  loan  facility  ("Ecobank  Loan  IV")  with
Ecobank Ghana Limited and used the facility to repay in full the $20.0 million Royal Gold loan. The loan is secured by, among other things, Wassa's existing plant,
and certain  machinery and equipment  having a specified  value.  There are  no prepayment  penalties  associated with Ecobank Loan IV and the loan is  repayable
within 60 months  of  initial  drawdown.  Repayment  of  principal  commenced  September  2018  and  is  thereafter  payable  quarterly  in  arrears.  Interest  is  payable
monthly in arrears at an interest rate equal to three month LIBOR plus a spread of 7.5% per annum.

Royal Gold loan

In July 2015, the Company through its subsidiary Caystar Finance Co. closed a $20.0 million term loan with RGI and subsequently drew down $20.0 million of the
facility. The loan has a term of 4 years and is secured by, among other things, assets of Wassa and Bogoso/Prestea. Interest is payable based on the average daily
London  Bullion  Market  Association  ("LBMA")  gold  price  multiplied  by  62.5%  divided  by  10,000  to  a  maximum  interest  rate  of  11.5%  per  annum.  Interest
payments  are  to  be  made  on  the  last  business  day  of  each  fiscal  quarter,  commencing  in  the  quarter  which  the  funding  occurred.  The  fair  value  of  the  loan  is
determined net of initial valuation of the warrants issued to RGI and financing fees incurred. Commencing June 30, 2017, the excess cash flow provision came into
effect. No excess cash flow repayments were made.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the interest rate was approximately 8% with a total of $0.8 million paid during the year. On June 28, 2018, the Company
used Ecobank Loan IV to repay in full the $20.0 million Royal Gold loan.

7% Convertible Debentures

The 7% Convertible Debentures were issued on August 3, 2016, in the amount of $65.0 million due August 15, 2021. The Company entered into exchange and
purchase  agreements  with  two holders  of  its 5% Convertible  Debentures  due  June  1,  2017  to  exchange $42.0  million principal  amount  of  the  outstanding 5%
Convertible Debentures for an equal principal amount of 7% Convertible Debentures (the "Exchange"), with such principal amount being included in the issuance
of the $65.0 million total aggregate principal amount of the 7% Convertible Debentures. The Company did not receive any cash proceeds from the Exchange. The
7% Convertible Debentures are governed by the terms of an indenture dated August 3, 2016, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon, as
indenture trustee.

The 7% Convertible Debentures are senior unsecured obligations of the Company, bear interest at a rate of 7.0% per annum, payable semi-annually on February 1
and August 1 of each year,  beginning on February 1, 2017, and will  mature on August 15, 2021, unless earlier  repurchased,  redeemed or converted.  Subject  to
earlier  redemption  or  purchase,  the 7% Convertible  Debentures  are  convertible  at  any  time  until  the  close  of  business  on  the  third  business  day  immediately
preceding August 15, 2021 at the option of the holder, and may be settled, at the Company's election, in cash, common shares of the Company, or a combination of
cash and common shares based on an initial conversion rate. The initial conversion rate of the 7% Convertible Debentures, subject to adjustment, is approximately
222 common shares of the Company per $1,000 principal amount of 7% Convertible Debentures being converted, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price
of  approximately $4.50 per  common  share.  The  initial  conversion  rate  is  subject  to  adjustment  upon  the  occurrence  of  certain  events.  If  the 7% Convertible
Debentures are converted before August 1, 2019, the Company will, in addition to the consideration payable with the conversion, be required to make a conversion
make-whole payment in cash, common shares of the Company or a combination thereof, at the Company's election, equal to the present value of the remaining
scheduled payments of interest that would have been made on the 7% Convertible Debentures converted
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had such debentures remained outstanding from the conversion date to August 1, 2019, subject to certain restrictions. The present value of the remaining scheduled
interest payments will be computed using a discount rate equal to 2.0% .

Prior to August 15, 2019, the Company may not redeem the 7% Convertible Debentures except in the event of certain changes in applicable tax law. On or after
August 15, 2019, the Company may redeem all or part of the outstanding 7% Convertible Debentures at the redemption price, only if the last reported sales price of
the Company's common shares for 20 or more trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day prior to the date the Company
provides the notice of redemption to holders exceeds 130% of the conversion price in effect on each such trading day. The redemption price is equal to the sum of
(1) 100% of the principal amount of the 7% Convertible Debentures to be redeemed, (2) any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date,
and (3) a redemption make-whole payment,  payable in cash, common shares of the Company or a combination thereof,  at  the Company's election,  equal to the
present value of the remaining scheduled payments of interest that would have been made on the 7% Convertible Debentures to be redeemed had such debentures
remained outstanding from the redemption date  to August  15,  2021 (excluding interest  accrued to,  but  excluding,  the redemption date,  which is  otherwise paid
pursuant to the preceding clause (2)).

The conversion feature referred to above is an embedded derivative. The Company selected to bifurcate the conversion feature from the host instrument, thereby
separating it from the debt component. The debt component is recorded at amortized cost, and the embedded derivative is accounted for at fair value. At August 3,
2016, the date of the debt issuance, the fair value of the embedded derivative was $12.3 million . At December 31, 2018 , the fair value of the embedded derivative
was $4.2 million ( December 31, 2017 - $11.0 million ). The revaluation gain of $6.8 million is recorded in the Statement of Operations (year ended December 31,
2017 - revaluation gain of $2.1 million ). There were no conversions during the year ( December 31, 2017 - gain on conversions of $2.1 million ).

During  the  first  quarter  of  2017,  a  total  of 1,889,110 shares  were  issued  on  conversion  of $8.5  million principal  amount  of 7% Convertible  Debentures.  The
Company  recorded  a  net  loss  on  conversions  of $0.2  million .  The  Company  also  made  make-whole  interest  payments  of $1.4  million as  a  result  of  the
conversions.  There  were  no  conversions  during  the  rest  of  2017.  As  at December  31,  2017 , $51.5  million principal  amount  of 7% Convertible  Debentures
remained outstanding.

There were no conversions of the 7% Convertible Debentures during 2018 , therefore, as at December 31, 2018 , $51.5 million principal amount of 7% Convertible
Debentures remains outstanding.
The changes in the carrying amount of the 7% Convertible Debentures are as follows:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Beginning balance $ 42,515  $ 47,617

Conversions —  (6,947)
Accretion of 7% Convertible Debentures discount 2,097  1,845

Balance at the end of the period $ 44,612  $ 42,515

Vendor agreement

On May 4, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with a significant account creditor to settle $36.5 million of current liabilities. Under this agreement, the
Company paid $12.0 million and deferred the payment of the remaining $24.5 million until January 2018, after which the outstanding balance will be repaid in
equal installments over 24 months commencing on January 31, 2018. Interest of 7.5% will accrue and be payable beginning in January 2017. A $2.7 million gain
was recognized in Other Income on remeasurement of the deferral during the second quarter of 2016.
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Schedule of payments on outstanding debt as of December 31, 2018 :

    Year ending
December 31, 2019  Year ending December

31, 2020  Year ending December
31, 2021  Year ending December

31, 2022  Year ending December
31, 2023  Maturity

Finance leases             
Principal  $ 1,151  $ 532  $ —  $ —  $ —  2020
Interest  94  8  —  —  —   

             

Ecobank Loan III             
Principal  5,555  5,555  5,555  3,611  —  2022
Interest  1,739  1,189  632  101  —   

             

Ecobank Loan IV             
Principal  4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  2,000  2023
Interest  1,645  1,250  847  448  74   

             

7% Convertible Debentures             
Principal  —  —  51,498  —  —  August 15, 2021
Interest  3,605  3,605  3,605  —  —   

             

Vendor agreement             
Principal  17,507  —  —  —  —  2019
Interest  1,072  —  —  —  —   

             

Total principal  $ 28,213  $ 10,087  $ 61,053  $ 7,611  $ 2,000   
Total interest  8,155  6,052  5,084  549  74   

  $ 36,368  $ 16,139  $ 66,137  $ 8,160  $ 2,074   

13. SHARE CAPITAL
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company consolidated the common shares of the Company on the basis of one post-consolidation common share
for every five pre-consolidation common shares. The common shares of the Company began trading on a consolidation-adjusted basis on the TSX and the NYSE
American when the markets opened on October 30, 2018.

All share data and equity-based compensation plans have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the consolidation.
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 Note  
Number of Common

Shares  Share Capital

Balance at December 31, 2016   67,071,290  $ 746,542
Bought deal   6,272,790  26,203
Conversion of 7% Convertible Debentures   1,889,110  9,479
Shares issued under DSUs   233,539  521
Shares issued under options   4,750  16
Shares issued under warrants   644,736  2,450
Share issue costs   —  (2,044)

Balance at December 31, 2017   76,116,215  $ 783,167
Private placement a  32,642,100  125,672
Shares issued under DSUs   36,194  20
Shares issued under options   24,500  77
Share issue costs   —  (901)

Balance at December 31, 2018   108,819,009  $ 908,035

a. On  October  1,  2018,  the  Company  completed  a $125.7  million strategic  investment  with  La  Mancha  Holding  S.à  r.l.  ("La  Mancha"),  a  Luxembourg-
incorporated  private  gold  investment  company  through  a  private  placement.  La  Mancha  was  issued 32,642,100 Golden  Star  common  shares,  representing
approximately 30% of the outstanding share capital (on a non-diluted basis) after giving effect to La Mancha's investment.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Our commitments and contingencies include the following items:

Environmental bonding in Ghana

The  Ghana  Environmental  Protection  Agency  ("EPA")  requires  environmental  compliance  bonds  that  provide  assurance  for  environmental  remediation  at  our
Bogoso/Prestea and Wassa mining operations. To meet this requirement the Company has environmental bonds totaling $9.6 million and $8.1 million for Wassa
and Bogoso/Prestea respectively, with a commercial bank in Ghana. These bonds are guaranteed by Golden Star Resources Ltd. There is also a cross guarantee
between Wassa and Bogoso/Prestea. The Company also held cash deposits of $3.5 million and $3.0 million for each operation, which are recorded as restricted
cash on the consolidated balance sheets.

Government of Ghana's rights to increase its participation

Under  Act  703,  the  Government  of  Ghana  has  the  right  to  acquire  a  special  share  in  our  Ghanaian  subsidiaries  at  any  time  for no consideration  or  such
consideration as the Government of Ghana and such subsidiaries might agree, and a pre-emptive right to purchase all gold and other minerals produced by such
subsidiaries. A special share carries no voting rights and does not participate in dividends, profits or assets. If the Government of Ghana acquires a special share, it
may require the Company to redeem the special share at any time for no consideration or for consideration determined by the Company. To date, the Government
of Ghana has not sought to exercise any of these rights at our properties.

Royalties

Government of Ghana

The Government of Ghana receives a royalty equal to 5% of mineral revenues earned by Bogoso/Prestea and Wassa.

Dunkwa Properties

As part of the acquisition of the Dunkwa properties in 2003, the Company agreed to pay the seller a net smelter return royalty on future gold production from the
Mansiso and Asikuma properties.  As per  the acquisition agreement,  there  will  be no royalty  due on the first 200,000 ounces produced from Mampon which is
located on the Asikuma property. The amount of the royalty is based on a sliding scale which ranges from 2% of net smelter return at gold prices at or below $300
per ounce and progressively increases to 3.5% for gold prices in excess of $400 per ounce. Since the ounces mined at Mampon were below the 200,000 ounces
threshold, we are not required to pay a royalty on this property.
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Operating leases and capital commitments

The Company is a party to certain contracts relating to operating leases, office rent and capital commitments. Future minimum payments under these agreements as
at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

Less than 1 year  $ 1,383
Between 1 and 5 years  183
More than 5 years  —

Total  $ 1,566

15. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Share-based compensation expenses recognized in general and administrative expense in the Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss)/Income, are as
follows:

 
For the Years Ended

December 31,

 2018  2017
Share options $ 1,248  $ 1,229
Deferred share units 565  387
Share appreciation rights (502)  482
Performance share units (33)  10,456

 $ 1,278  $ 12,554

Share options

On May 5, 2016, the Fourth Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan (the "Stock Option Plan") was approved by shareholders to (i) reserve an additional
2,000,000 common shares for the Stock Option Plan, thereby increasing the total number of common shares issuable from 5,000,000 common shares to 7,000,000
common shares under the Stock Option Plan; (ii) provide for the grant of "incentive stock options" (being stock options designated as "incentive stock options" in
an option agreement and that are granted in accordance with the requirements of, and that conforms to the applicable provisions of,  Section 422 of the Internal
Revenue Code); and (iii) to make such other changes to update the provisions of the Stock Option Plan in light of current best practices. Options granted are non-
assignable and are exercisable for a period of ten years or such other period as is stipulated in a stock option agreement between Golden Star and the optionee.
Under the Plan, we may grant options to employees, consultants and directors of the Company or its subsidiaries for up to 7,000,000 shares, of which 1,917,767 are
available for grant as of December 31, 2018 ( December 31, 2017 - 2,114,517 ). The exercise price of each option is not less than the closing price of our shares on
the Toronto Stock Exchange on the day prior  to the date of grant.  Options typically vest  over periods ranging from immediately to four years from the date of
grant. Vesting periods are determined at the discretion of the Compensation Committee.

The fair value of option grants is estimated at the grant dates using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Fair values of options granted during the year ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 were based on the weighted average assumptions noted in the following table:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Expected volatility 70.06%  73.70%
Risk-free interest rate 2.39%  1.86%
Expected lives 5.68 years  5.99 years

The weighted average fair value per option granted during the year ended December 31, 2018 was $2.82 CAD ( year ended December 31, 2017 - $4.20 CAD). As
at December 31, 2018 , there was $0.6 million of share-based compensation expense ( December 31, 2017 - $0.5 million ) relating to the Company's share options
to be recorded in future periods. For the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recognized an expense of $1.2 million ( year ended December 31, 2017 -
$1.2 million ). 
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A summary of option activity under the Company's Stock Option Plan during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:  

 
Options 

('000)  

Weighted– 
Average 
Exercise 

price ($CAD)  

Weighted– 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 
Term (Years)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2016 3,223  6.45  5.7
Granted 470  6.40  9.7
Exercised (5)  2.75  7.3
Forfeited (128)  11.35  1.8
Expired (234)  10.95  —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 3,326  5.93  5.9
Granted 642  4.61  9.2
Exercised (25)  3.24  1.6
Forfeited (116)  8.96  3.6
Expired (329)  9.35  —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 3,498  5.28  6.3

      

Exercisable as of December 31, 2017 2,536  6.30  5.1
Exercisable as of December 31, 2018 2,664  5.42  5.5

The number of options outstanding by strike price as of December 31, 2018 is shown in the following table:

  Options outstanding  Options exercisable

  

Number outstanding
at December 31,

2018

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual life
Weighted-average

exercise price  

Number
outstanding at

December 31, 2018
Weighted-average

exercise price

Range of exercise price (Cdn$)  ('000) (years) (Cdn$)  ('000) (Cdn$)

1.50 to 2.50  604 6.1 1.90  604 1.90
2.51 to 3.50  534 7.1 2.81  405 2.82
3.51 to 4.50  581 4.9 4.35  581 4.35
4.51 to 5.50  689 9.1 4.63  205 4.68
5.51 to 7.50  487 7.7 6.48  266 6.46
7.51 to 10.50  378 2.9 9.50  378 9.50
10.51 to 17.65  225 1.9 14.92  225 14.92

  3,498 6.3 5.28  2,664 5.42

The number of options outstanding by strike price as of December 31, 2017 is shown in the following table:

  Options outstanding  Options exercisable

  

Number outstanding
at December 31,

2017

Weighted-average
remaining

contractual life
Weighted-average

exercise price  

Number
outstanding at

December 31, 2017
Weighted-average

exercise price

Range of exercise price (Cdn$)  ('000) (years) (Cdn$)  ('000) (Cdn$)

1.50 to 2.50  617 7.0 1.90  500 1.90
2.51 to 3.50  536 8.0 2.80  277 2.80
3.51 to 4.50  616 5.8 4.30  589 4.30
4.51 to 5.50  52 8.8 4.80  26 4.90
5.51 to 7.50  513 8.5 6.40  177 6.40
7.51 to 10.50  691 2.3 8.90  666 9.00
10.51 to 17.65  302 2.5 15.10  302 15.10

  3,326 5.9 5.93  2,536 6.30

30



Deferred share units ("DSUs")

The Company's Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan”) was adopted on March 9, 2011 and was amended and restated as of March 14, 2016 (the “Restatement
Effective Date”). The DSU Plan has been implemented for directors and executive officers of the Company in order to (i) encourage the directors and executive
officers of the Company to own Common Shares of the Company and to facilitate such Common Share ownership; and (ii) provide directors and executive officers
of the Company with incentives in the form of deferred share units ("DSUs") in order to allow the Company to reduce its reliance on stock options and other long-
term incentive plans for the same purposes, so as to conform with current best practices regarding directors’ and executive officers’ compensation. The DSU Plan
is administered by the Compensation Committee. Pursuant to the DSU Plan, directors may elect to receive all or part of their retainer in DSUs having a market
value  equal  to  the  portion  of  the  retainer  to  be  received  in  that  form,  subject  to  such  limits  as  the  Compensation  Committee  may  impose.  The  Compensation
Committee may also grant to any director or executive officer, in each year, DSUs having a market value not greater than the total compensation payable to such
director or executive officer for that year, including any salary or bonus but excluding any director’s retainer. The number of DSUs to be issued is determined by
dividing the amount of  the retainer  or base salary determined as the basis  for the award by the volume-weighted average trading price of  a Common Share (as
reported by the NYSE American) for the 20 trading days immediately preceding the date the DSUs are awarded. The vesting schedule of the DSUs is determined
at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, but generally in the case of DSUs granted to directors in lieu of director retainers, the DSUs vest immediately on
the  award  date.  DSUs  otherwise  awarded  to  directors  and  officers  as  part  of  total  compensation  payable  generally  vest  one-third  on  each  of  the  first  three
anniversaries of the award date.

At  the  election  of  the  Compensation  Committee  in  its  sole  discretion,  each  DSU granted  after  the  Restatement  Effective  Date  may  be  redeemed  for:  (a)  cash
payment equal to the market value of one Common Share on the date of redemption (the “Redemption Value”), after deduction of applicable taxes and other source
deductions required by applicable laws; (b) such number of Common Shares purchased by the Company on the public market as have an aggregate market value
equal to the Redemption Value; or (c) any combination of the foregoing, so long as the aggregate redemption price has a fair market value equal to the Redemption
Value.  In  addition to the foregoing,  the Compensation Committee  in its  sole  discretion,  may redeem DSUs granted prior  to  the Restatement  Effective  Date for
Common Shares issued by the Company from treasury.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , the DSUs that were granted vested immediately and a compensation expense of $0.6 million was recognized for these
grants ( year ended December 31, 2017 - $0.4 million ). As of December 31, 2018 , there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to DSUs granted
under the Company's DSU Plan.

A summary of DSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

  For the Years Ended December 31,

  2018  2017

Number of DSUs, beginning of period ('000)  1,018  1,146
Granted  150  105
Exercised  (82)  (233)

Number of DSUs, end of period ('000)  1,086  1,018

Share appreciation rights ("SARs")

On  February  13,  2012,  the  Company  adopted  a  Share  Appreciation  Rights  ("SARs")  Plan.  The  plan  allows  SARs  to  be  issued  to  executives,  employees  and
directors that vest after a period of three years . These awards are settled in cash on the exercise date equal to the Company's stock price less the strike price. Since
these awards are settled in cash, the Company marks-to-market the associated expense for each award at the end of each reporting period using a Black-Scholes
model. The Company accounts for these as liability awards and marks-to-market the fair value of the award until final settlement. 

As of December 31, 2018 , there was approximately $0.3 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested SARs ( December 31, 2017 - $0.4
million ). For the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recognized a recovery of $0.5 million related to these cash settled awards ( year ended December
31, 2017 - $0.5 million expense).
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A summary of the SARs activity during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

  For the Years Ended December 31,

  2018  2017

Number of SARs, beginning of period ('000)  533  537
Granted  304  292
Exercised  (36)  (158)
Forfeited  (127)  (138)

Number of SARs, end of period ('000)  674  533

Performance share units ("PSUs")

On January 1, 2014, the Company adopted a Performance Share Unit ("PSU") Plan.  Each PSU represents one notional common share that is redeemed for cash
based on the value of a common share at the end of the three year performance period, to the extent performance and vesting criteria have been met.  The PSUs
vest at the end of a three year performance period. The cash award is determined by multiplying the number of units by the performance adjustment factor, which
ranges from 0% to 200% . The performance adjustment factor is determined by comparing the Company's share price performance to the share price performance
of a peer group of companies as listed in the PSU Plan. As the Company is required to settle these awards in cash, they are accounted for as liability awards with
corresponding compensation expense recognized.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company recognized $0.4 million recovery related to PSU's ( year ended December 31, 2017 - $10.1 million ). As at
December 31, 2018 , the PSU liability of $6.4 million is recognized on the Balance Sheet as current portion of other liability.

A summary of the PSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

  For the Years Ended December 31,

  2018  2017

Number of PSUs, beginning of period ('000)  2,721  3,096
Settled  (1,548)  (375)

Number of PSUs, end of period ('000)  1,172  2,721

2017 Performance and restricted share units ("PRSUs")

On May 4, 2017, the Company adopted a 2017 performance and restricted share unit plan (the "2017 PRSU Plan"). Pursuant to the 2017 PRSU Plan, performance
share units ("2017 PSUs") and restricted share units ("2017 RSUs" and, together with the 2017 PSUs, the "Share Units") may be issued to any employee or officer
of  the  Company  or  its  designated  affiliates.  Share  Units  may  be  redeemed  for:  (i)  common  shares  issued  from  treasury;  (ii)  common  shares  purchased  in  the
secondary market; (iii) a cash payment; or (iv) a combination of (i), (ii) and (iii).

Each PRSU represents one notional common share that is redeemed for common shares or common shares plus cash subject to the consent of the Company based
on the value of a common share at the end of the three year performance period, to the extent performance and vesting criteria have been met. The PRSUs vest at
the end of a three year performance period. The award is determined by multiplying the number of Share Units by the performance adjustment factor, which ranges
from 0% to 200% . The performance adjustment factor is determined by comparing the Company's share price performance to the share price performance of a
peer group of companies as listed in the 2017 PRSU Plan. As the Company has a practice of settling these awards in common shares, they are accounted for as
equity awards with corresponding compensation expense recognized.

PRSUs  are  accounted  for  as  equity  awards  with  a  corresponding  compensation  expense  recognized.  For  the year  ended  December  31,  2018 ,  the  Company
recognized $0.3 million expense ( year ended December 31, 2017 - $0.3 million ).
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A summary of the PRSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

  For the Years Ended December 31,

  2018  2017

Number of PRSUs, beginning of period ('000)  339  —
Granted  480  339
Forfeited  (28)  —

Number of PRSUs, end of period ('000)  791  339

16. (LOSS)/INCOME PER COMMON SHARE
During the year ended December 31, 2018 , the Company incurred a net loss therefore the shares for the period are not dilutive. The following table provides a
reconciliation between basic and diluted (loss)/income per common share:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Net (loss)/income attributable to Golden Star shareholders $ (18,123)  $ 38,771

Adjustments:    
Interest expense on 7% Convertible Debentures —  3,657
Accretion of 7% Convertible Debentures discount —  1,845
Gain on fair value of 7% Convertible Debentures embedded derivative —  (2,095)

Diluted (loss)/income $ (18,123)  $ 42,178

    

Weighted average number of basic shares (millions) 1  84.3  74.7
Dilutive securities:    
Options —  0.5
Deferred share units —  1.1
Performance and restricted share units —  0.3
7% Convertible Debentures —  11.6

Weighted average number of diluted shares (millions) 84.3  88.2

    

(Loss)/income per share attributable to Golden Star shareholders:    
Basic $ (0.21)  $ 0.52
Diluted $ (0.21)  $ 0.48

1 See Note 13 for share consolidation details.

17. REVENUE
Revenue includes the following components:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Revenue - Streaming Agreement    

Cash payment proceeds $ 6,036  $ 6,138
Deferred revenue recognized 13,738  14,156

 19,774  20,294
Revenue - Spot sales 253,243  295,203
Total revenue $ 273,017  $ 315,497
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18. COST OF SALES EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization include the following components:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Contractors $ 32,536  $ 41,297
Electricity 17,663  20,558
Fuel 7,347  11,137
Raw materials and consumables 41,910  51,996
Salaries and benefits 58,501  53,582
Transportation costs 1,751  2,116
General and administrative 9,490  7,695
Other 6,830  8,997
Mine operating expenses $ 176,028  $ 197,378
Severance charges 14,858  9,232
Operating costs from metal inventory 12,886  167
Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off 5,655  2,410
Royalties 14,302  17,295

 $ 223,729  $ 226,482

19. FINANCE EXPENSE, NET
Finance income and expense includes the following components:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Interest income $ (559)  $ (72)
Interest expense, net of capitalized interest (see Note 7) 13,281  6,039
Interest on financing component of deferred revenue (see Note 11) 4,750  —
Net foreign exchange gain (91)  (172)
Accretion of rehabilitation provision 691  1,245
Conversion make-whole payment —  1,445

 $ 18,072  $ 8,485

On February 1, 2018, Prestea Underground mine achieved commercial production, therefore no capitalized interest was recorded since.

20. OTHER INCOME
Other income includes the following components:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets (305)  672
Gain on reduction of asset retirement obligations (3,080)  (4,945)
Other income (218)  (73)

 $ (3,603)  $ (4,346)

34



21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
There were no material related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 other than the items disclosed below.

Key management personnel

Key  management  personnel  is  defined  as  members  of  the  Board  of  Directors  and  certain  senior  officers.  Compensation  of  key  management  personnel  are  as
follows, with such compensation made on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm's length transaction:

 For the Years Ended December 31,

 2018  2017
Salaries, wages, and other benefits $ 3,753  $ 2,800
Bonuses 1,052  787
Share-based compensation 1,965  7,487

 $ 6,770 $ 11,074

22. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries at December 31, 2018 . The principal operating subsidiaries
are Wassa and Prestea, in which the Company has a 90% ownership interest in each.

Set out below is summarized financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the group. The amounts are disclosed
on a 100% basis and disclosure for each subsidiary are based on those included in the consolidated financial statements before inter-company eliminations.

Summarized statement of financial position

  Wassa  Prestea
  As of December 31,  As of December 31,

  2018  2017  2018  2017

Non-controlling interest percentage  10%  10%  10%  10%
         

Current assets  $ 129,656  $ 94,760  $ 13,633  $ 25,023
Current liabilities  150,404  160,725  1,152,156  1,058,732
  (20,748)  (65,965)  (1,138,523)  (1,033,709)
Non-current assets  141,262  138,416  134,090  131,245
Non-current liabilities  42,588  25,016  62,737  76,373
  98,674  113,400  71,353  54,872
Net assets/(liabilities)  77,926  47,435  (1,067,170)  (978,837)
         

Non-controlling interest  $ 15,605  $ 12,562  $ (87,578)  $ (78,587)

Summarized income statement

  Wassa  Prestea
  For the years ended December 31,  For the years ended December 31,

  2018  2017  2018  2017

Revenue  $ 190,016  $ 156,908  $ 93,134  $ 138,295
Net income/(loss) and comprehensive income/(loss)  30,491  16,924  (88,332)  4,619
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Summarized cash flows

  Wassa  Prestea
  For the years ended December 31,  For the years ended December 31,

  2018  2017  2018  2017

Cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities  57,897  27,486  (77,115)  3,505
Cash flows used in investing activities  (34,984)  (21,744)  (11,956)  (43,616)
Cash flows (used in)/provided by financing activities  (31,112)  7,468  85,581  42,078

23. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
Segmented revenue and results

The Company has reportable segments as identified by the individual mining operations. Segments are operations reviewed by the executive management. Each
segment is identified based on quantitative and qualitative factors.

For the Years Ended December 31,  Wassa  Prestea  Other  Corporate  Total

2018           
Revenue  183,078  89,939  —  —  273,017

Mine operating expenses  86,916  89,112  —  —  176,028

Severance charges  4,970  9,888  —  —  14,858

Operating costs from metal inventory  7,184  5,702  —  —  12,886

Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off  3,684  1,971  —  —  5,655

Royalties  9,508  4,794  —  —  14,302

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization  112,262  111,467  —  —  223,729

Depreciation and amortization  22,066  11,873  —  —  33,939

Mine operating margin/(loss)  48,750  (33,401)  —  —  15,349

Income tax expense  12,350  —  —  —  12,350

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest  3,043  (8,991)  —  —  (5,948)

Net income/(loss) attributable to Golden Star  27,994  (25,351)  (8,543)  (12,223)  (18,123)

           

Capital expenditures  35,420  11,414  —  —  46,834

           

2017           
Revenue  $ 167,376  $ 148,121  $ —  $ —  $ 315,497

Mine operating expenses  115,625  81,753  —  —  197,378

Severance charges  6,316  2,916  —  —  9,232

Operating costs from/(to) metal inventory  5,080  (4,913)  —  —  167

Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off  2,410  —  —  —  2,410

Royalties  8,652  8,643  —  —  17,295

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization  138,083  88,399  —  —  226,482

Depreciation and amortization  20,052  11,740  —  —  31,792

Mine operating margin  9,241  47,982  —  —  57,223

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest  1,693  495  —  —  2,188

Net income/(loss) attributable to Golden Star  $ 17,644  $ 50,050  $ (3,701)  $ (25,222)  $ 38,771

           

Capital expenditures  $ 21,583  $ 48,055  $ —  $ —  $ 69,638
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Segmented Assets

The following table presents the segmented assets:

  Wassa  Prestea  Other  Corporate  Total

December 31, 2018           
Total assets  $ 181,446  $ 147,815  $ 898  $ 87,828  $ 417,987

           

December 31, 2017           
Total assets  $ 195,180  $ 158,715  $ 4,257  $ 2,237  $ 360,389

Information about major customers

Currently,  approximately 90% of  our  gold  production  is  sold  through  a  South  African  gold  refinery.  Except  for  the  sales  to  RGLD  as  part  of  the  Streaming
Agreement, the refinery arranges for the sale of gold on the day it is shipped from the mine sites and we receive payment for gold sold two working days after the
gold leaves the mine site. The global gold market is competitive with numerous banks and refineries willing to buy gold on short notice. Therefore, we believe that
the loss of our current customer would not materially delay or disrupt revenue.

24. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
During the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 , there was no payment of income taxes. The Company paid $7.9 million of interest during the year ended
December 31, 2018 (the year ended December 31, 2017 - $7.3 million ).

Changes in working capital for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

 
For the Years Ended December

31,

 2018  2017

Decrease in accounts receivable $ 215  $ 3,871
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 9,187  (7,684)
Increase in prepaids and other (737)  (2,132)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (25,837)  (1,503)

Total changes in working capital $ (17,172)  $ (7,448)

Other includes the following components:

 
For the Years Ended December

31,

 2018  2017

(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets $ (305)  $ 672
Inventory net realizable value adjustment and write-off 5,544  2,410
Loss on fair value of 5% Convertible Debentures —  317
Gain on fair value of warrants —  (86)
Loss/(gain) on fair value of marketable securities 175  (64)
Accretion of vendor agreement 731  731
Accretion of rehabilitation provisions (see Note 10) 691  1,245
Amortization of financing fees 1,322  378
Accretion of 7% Convertible Debentures discount 2,097  1,845
Gain on reduction of rehabilitation provisions (3,080)  (4,945)
Loss on conversion of 7% Convertible Debentures, net —  165
Gain on warrant exercise —  (193)
Interest on financing component of deferred revenue (see Note 11) 4,750  —

 $ 11,925 $ 2,475
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Reconciliation of debt arising from financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 :

 
Equipment

financing credit
facility Finance leases Ecobank Loan III Ecobank Loan IV Vendor agreement

5% Convertible
Debentures

7% Convertible
Debentures Royal Gold loan Total

December 31, 2016 $ 1,119 $ 1,959 $ — $ — $ 22,338 $ 13,294 $ 47,617 $ 18,496 $ 104,823

Cash flows         
Proceeds from debt agreements — — 10,000 — — — — — 10,000
Principal payments on debt (972) (1,226) — — — — — — (2,198)
 Fair value loss on the 5%
Convertible Debentures — — — — — 317 — — 317
5% Convertible Debentures
repayment — — — — — (13,611) — — (13,611)

Non-cash changes         
Capitalized loan fee — — (499) — — — — — (499)
New lease — 765 — — — — — — 765
Conversion of 7% Convertible
Debentures — — — — — — (6,947) — (6,947)
Accretion of debt — — 58 — 731 — 1,845 321 2,955

December 31, 2017 $ 147 $ 1,498 $ 9,559 $ — $ 23,069 $ — $ 42,515 $ 18,817 $ 95,605

Cash flows         
Proceeds from debt agreements — — 15,000 20,000 — — — — 35,000
Principal payments on debt (147) (1,714) (4,723) (1,999) (7,024) — — — (15,607)
Royal Gold loan repayment — — — — — — — (20,000) (20,000)

Non-cash changes         
Capitalized loan fee — — — (340) — — — — (340)
New lease — 1,899 — — — — — — 1,899
Accretion of debt — — 99 39 731 — 2,097 1,183 4,149

December 31, 2018 $ — $ 1,683 $ 19,935 $ 17,700 $ 16,776 $ — $ 44,612 $ — $ 100,706

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Our exposure to market risk includes, but is not limited to, the following risks: changes in interest rates on our debt, changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
commodity price fluctuations.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another  financial  asset.  We  manage  the  liquidity  risk  inherent  in  these  financial  obligations  by  preparing  monthly  financial  summaries,  quarterly  forecasts  and
annual long-term budgets which forecast cash needs and expected cash availability to meet future obligations. Typically these obligations are met by cash flows
from operations and from cash on hand. Scheduling of capital spending and acquisitions of financial resources may also be employed, as needed and as available,
to meet the cash demands of our obligations.

Our  ability  to  repay or  refinance  our  future  obligations  depends  on a  number  of  factors,  some of  which may be  beyond our  control.  Factors  that  influence  our
ability  to  meet  these  obligations  include  general  global  economic  conditions,  credit  and  capital  market  conditions,  results  of  operations,  mineral  reserves  and
resources and the price of gold.
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The following table shows our contractual obligations as at December 31, 2018 :

  Payment due (in thousands) by period 

 (Stated in thousands of U.S dollars)  
Less than 1 

year  1 to 3 years  3 to 5 years   
More than 

5 years  Total 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1  $ 84,894  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 84,894

Debt 2  28,213  78,751  2,000  —  108,964
Interest on long term debt  8,155  11,685  74  —  19,914
Purchase obligations  13,762  —  —  —  13,762

Rehabilitation provisions 3  7,665  27,908  26,283  11,613  73,469

Total  $ 142,689  $ 118,344  $ 28,357  $ 11,613  $ 301,003

1  Includes the current portion of the PSU liabilities of $6.4 million .
2  Includes the 7% Convertible Debentures maturing in August 2021, the finance leases and the vendor agreement. Golden Star may not redeem the 7% Convertible Debentures prior to August

15, 2019, except in the event of certain changes in applicable tax law. On or after August 15, 2019, the Company may redeem all or part of the outstanding 7% Convertible Debentures at the
redemption price, only if the last reported sales price of the Company's common shares for 20 or more trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day prior
to the date the Company provides the notice of redemption to holders  exceeds 130% of the conversion price in effect on each such trading day. The presentation shown above assumes
payment is made in cash and also assumes no conversions of the 7% Convertible Debentures into common shares by the holders prior to the maturity date.

3  Rehabilitation provisions indicates the expected undiscounted cash flows for each period.

As at December 31, 2018 , the Company has current assets of $140.2 million compared to current liabilities of $134.4 million . As at December 31, 2018 , the
Company had a cash balance of $96.5 million .

The Company expects to meet its short-term financial needs through its cash on hand, cash flow from operations.

Interest rate risk

Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  the  future  cash  flows  of  a  financial  instrument  will  fluctuate  because  of  changes  in  market  interest  rates.  Our 7% Convertible
Debentures,  vendor  agreement  and  the  outstanding  loans  under  our  equipment  financing  facility  bear  interest  at  a  fixed  rate  and  are  not  subject  to  changes  in
interest  payments.  The Ecobank Loan III  interest  rate  is  three  month LIBOR plus 8% ,  per  annum.  Based on our  current $20.3 million outstanding balance on
Ecobank Loan III, a 100 basis points change in the three month LIBOR rate would result in a nominal change in interest expense. The Ecobank Loan IV interest
rate is three month LIBOR plus a spread of 7.5% per annum. Based on our current $18.0 million outstanding balance on Ecobank Loan IV, a 100 basis points
change in the three month LIBOR rate would result in a nominal change in interest expense. We have not entered into any agreements to hedge against unfavorable
changes in interest rates, but may in the future actively manage our exposure to interest rate risk.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Currency risk is risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, the value of cash and
cash equivalents and other financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies can fluctuate with changes in currency exchange rates.

Since  our  revenues  are  denominated  in  U.S.  dollars  and  our  operating  units  transact  much  of  their  business  in  U.S.  dollars,  we  are  typically  not  subject  to
significant impacts from currency fluctuations. However, certain purchases of labor, operating supplies and capital assets are denominated in Ghana cedis, euros,
British pounds, Australian dollars, South African rand and Canadian dollars.  To accommodate these purchases, we maintain operating cash accounts in non-US
dollar currencies and appreciation of these non-US dollar currencies against  the U.S. dollar results in a foreign currency gain and a decrease in non-U.S. dollar
currencies  results  in  a  loss.  In  the  past,  we have entered  into  forward  purchase  contracts  for  South  African  rand,  euros  and other  currencies  to  hedge  expected
purchase costs  of capital  assets.  During 2018 and 2017, we had no currency related derivatives.  At December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 , we held $1.9
million and $3.8 million , respectively, of foreign currency.

Commodity price risk

Gold  is  our  primary  product  and,  as  a  result,  changes  in  the  price  of  gold  can  significantly  affect  our  results  of  operations  and  cash  flows.  Based  on  our  gold
production in the year, a $100 per ounce change in gold price would result in approximately a $20.6 million and $19.6 million change in our sales revenues and
operating  cash  flows,  respectively.  To  reduce  gold  price  volatility,  we  have  at  various  times  entered  into  gold  price  hedges.  As  at December  31,  2018 ,  the
Company did not have any outstanding gold price derivative contracts.
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Our credit risk is
primarily associated with liquid financial assets and derivatives. We limit exposure to credit risk on liquid financial assets by holding our cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash and deposits at  highly-rated financial  institutions.  Risks associated with gold trade receivables is considered minimal as we sell  gold to a credit-
worthy buyer who settles promptly within two days of receipt of gold bullion.

26. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The  Company  manages  its  capital  in  a  manner  that  will  allow  it  to  continue  as  a  going  concern  while  maximizing  the  return  to  shareholders  through  the
optimization of the debt and equity balance.

In the management of capital, the Company includes the components of equity, long-term debt, net of cash and cash equivalents, and investments.

 As of  As of

 
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017
Equity $ 42,037  $ (41,754)
Long-term debt 73,224  79,741
 $ 115,261  $ 37,987
Cash and cash equivalents 96,507  27,787

 $ 211,768  $ 65,774

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In doing so, the Company may issue new shares, restructure or issue new debt and acquire or dispose of assets.

In order to facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares annual budgets that are updated as necessary depending on various factors,
including successful capital deployment and general industry conditions. The Company's treasury policy specifies that cash is to be held in banks with a rating of A
or higher by Moody's or Standard & Poor's. In addition, the Company's investment policy allows investment of surplus funds in permitted investments consisting
of US treasury bills, notes and bonds, government sponsored agency debt obligations, corporate debt or municipal securities with credit rating of at least AA. All
investments must have a maximum term to maturity of one year.
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Exhibit 99.3

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on form S-8
(Nos. 333-105820, 333-105821, 333-118958, 333-169047, 333-175542 , 333-211926 and 333-218064) and
Registration Statement No. 333-220478 on Form F-10 of Golden Star Resources Ltd. (Golden Star) of our
report dated February 19, 2019 relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Golden Star as at December 31, 2018, appearing in this Form 6-
K of Golden Star.

(Signed) “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Canada
February 19, 2019


